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GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of GAL MSN 41027 Limited (the
"Company"} for the year ended 31 December 2020,

Principal Activities, Business Review and Future Developments

The Company was incorporated in England on 20 November 2014 as a special purpose company whose
principal activities are purchasing, leasing and disposal of jet aircraft. The Directors expect these activities to
continue for the foreseeable future and will continue to review and seek business opportunities for the Company.
The Company is operated and managed as a single operating segment.

During the year, the Company sold its aircraft to a related party.
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Company, in the course of its business activities, is exposed to asset, market, credit, liquidity, operational,
geopolitical and economic risk, The key risks facing the Company and the manner in which these risks have
been dealt with are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of Goshawk Aviation Limited ("GAL™)
{(whose accounts consolidate the accounts of the Company). The Board of Directors ensures that risks are
identified and managed in accordance with the objectives of the Company.

Going Concern

The Company's financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. In forming a view on the basis of
preparation and the ability of the Company to pay ils debts as they fall due, the Directors considered the
contracted cash inflows and the continuing support of GAL, the parent entity.

Key Performance Indicators
The Company's KPIs during the year were as follows:

. Operating income of US$6,524,059 (2019; US$9,036,121); and
. Loss before tax of US$12,801,501 (2019. US$1,183,595).

Results for the year and Dividends

The resuits of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 are sef out in the Statement of Profit or Loss
Account and Other Comprehensive Income an page 8 and in the Balance Sheet on pages 9- 10. The loss on
ordinary activities for the year before taxation amounted to US$12,901,501 (2019: US$1,183,585) and after
crediting taxation of US$1,614,990 (2019: charging taxation of US$452,002), the loss of US$11,286,511 (2019:
US$1,635,507) was transferred to reserves. Shareholders” equity at 31 December 2020 amounted to
US$1,786 830 (2019: deficit of US$1,713,031}). The Directors did not declare any dividends during the year
{2019: US$ Nil).

Total cash and restricted cash at 31 December 2020 was US$200,184 (2019; US$8,723). Total assets at 31
December 2020 was US$2,359,159 (2019; US$77,180,365), and total liabilittes was US$572,328 (2019:
US$78,903,396).

Directors and Secretary and their Interests

The names of the persons who were Directors at any time during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out
below. In accordance with the Articles of Association the Directors are not required to retire by rotation.



GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT AND STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Directors
Charles M Leahy

MaplesFS UK Corporate Director No.1 Limited
MaplesFS UK Corporate Director No.2 Limited

Secretary
Maples Fiduciary Services (UK} Limited
Interests

The Directors and the company secretary who held office at 31 December 2020 do not have any direct or
beneficial interest in the shares and debenfures of the Company, or any group company at thai date or during
the year.

Issue of Shares

Share capital consists of 1 ordinary shares of GBP £1 (US3$2) issued on 20 November 2014 to GAL Holdco No.2
Limited.

Political Contributions
No political contributions were made by the Company during the year (2015: None).

Events after the end of the Reporting Date

There were no events after the reporting date that would require revision of the results or financial position of the
Company, or disclosure in the financial statements.

Disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Strategic Report and Directors’ Report confirm that,
so far as they are each aware, there is no refevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unawars,
and each Director has taken all the steps that he/ she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself/ herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

Independent Auditor

Pursuant to Section 485 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor, KPMG, Chartered Accountants, will be deemed
to be reappointed and will therefore continue in office. The Directors have appointed KPMG as the Company's

Auditor.

This report was approved by the board on 28 September 2021 and signed on its behalf,

Charles M Leahy
Director



GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE DIRECTORS' REPORT AND

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The Directors are responsibie for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company taw requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are salisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the assets, liahilities and financial position of the Company and of its profit for that
year. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

» state whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject fo any maternial departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

. assess the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going congern; and

. use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy
af any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or [oss of the Company and enabfe them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 20068. They are responsible for such internal
controls as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as
are reascnably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities. The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report that complies with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 28 September 2021,

Charles Leahy
Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GAL MSN 41027
LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of GAL MSN 41027 Limited (‘the Company’) for the year
ended 31 December 2020 set out on pages 8 to 28, which comprise the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity and
related notes, including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 2. The

financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is UK Law and FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework.

In our opinion;

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at
31 December 2020 and of its loss for the year then ended;

* the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)"})
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council (FRC)'s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Conclusions refating to going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the
Company's financial position means that this is realistic.

They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant
doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for al least a year from the date of approval of
the financial statements (“the going concern period’).

In our evaluation of the directors' conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Company’s
business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Company's financial resources or
ability to continue operations over the going concern period.

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GAL MSN 41027
LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Based con the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a peried of at least twelve months from the date when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are
described in the relevant sections of this repori.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result
in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were
made, the absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee
that the Company will continue in operation.

Detecting irregularities including fraud

We identified the areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a
material effect on the financial statements and risks of material misstatement due to fraud, using
our understanding of the entity's industry, regulatory environment and other external factors and
inquiry with the directors. In addition, our risk assessment procedures included: inquiring with the
directors as to the Company’s policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and
regulations and prevention and detection of fraud; inquiring whether the directors have knowledge
of any actual or suspected non-compliance with laws or regulations or alleged fraud; inspecting the
Company’s regulatory and legal correspondence; and reading Board minutes.

We discussed identified laws and regulations, fraud risk factors and the need to remain alert
among the audit team.

The Cempany is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements
including companies and financial reporting legislation. We assessed the extent of compliance with
these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items,
including assessing the financial statement disclosures and agreeing them to supporting
documentation when necessary.

The Company is not subject to other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-
compiiance could have a material effact on amounts or disciosures in the financial statements.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these non-
direct laws and regulations to inguiry of the directors and other management and inspection of
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. These limited procedures did not identify actual or
suspected non-compliance.

We assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or
provide an opportunity to commit fraud. As required by auditing standards, we performed
procedures to address the risk of management override of controls. On this audit we do not
believe there is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition. We did not identify any additional fraud
risks.

In response to risk of fraud, we also performed procedures including: identifying journal entries to
test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation;
evaluating the business purpose of significant unusual transactions; assessing significant
accounting estimates for bias; and assessing the disclosures in the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GAL MSN 41027
LIMITED {CONTINUED)

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have
detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly
planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For exampie, the furthier
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations (irregularities) is from the events and
transactions refiected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures
required by auditing standards would identify it.

in addition, as with any audit, there remains a higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these
may invelve coliusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
controls. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot be expected to detect
non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together
with the financial statements. The other information comprises the information included in the
strategic report and the directors' report. The financial statements and our auditor's report thereon
do not comprise part of the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as
explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with

the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified

material misstatements in the other information.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
Based solely on our work on the other information undertaken during the course of the audit:
we have not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report or the strategic report;

in our opinicn, the information given in the directors’ report and the strategic report is
consistent with the financial statements;

in our opinion, the directors’ report and the sirategic report have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2008.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
tnder the Companies Act 2006 we are required to repart to you if, in our opinion:

* adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us, or

* the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by faw are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nething to report in these respects.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GAL MSN 41027
LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilifies statement set out on page 4, the directors
are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view; such internal controi as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; assessing the Company’s ability to continug as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they
either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’s responsibifities for the audit of the financial statements

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material migstatement, whether due to fraud, other irregularities or error, and to
fssue an opinian in an auditor's report, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit cenducted in agcordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud, other irregularities or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audif work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitied by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’'s members, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

T2 éz/

28 September 2021

Terence Coveney

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of

KPMG

Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Harbourmaster Place

IFSC

Dublin 1

Ireland



GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS ACCOUNT AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Operating income

Depreciation

Net impairment on aircraft assets
General and administration expenses

Net operating {loss}/profit on continuing activities

Other income

Finance expense

Net loss on derivatives
Foreign exchange gain

Loss an ordinary activities before taxation

Taxation

Loss on ordinary activities after taxation

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year

Note

S o 0w

12

2020 2019
Us$ us$
6,524,059 9,036,121
(2,769,681)  (3,070,824)
(10,796,156} -
(533,986)  (389,072)
(7.575,764)  5.576,225
1,073,412 -
(4,087.490) (4,811,781
{2,312,170)  {1,948,293)
511 254
(12,901,501)  (1,183,595)
1,614,990 (452,002)
(11,286,511} (1,835,597
(11,286,511)  (1,635,597)

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 28 form an integral pant of these financial statements. All results for the
years are attributable ta the owners of the Company, The above results were derived from continuing cperations.



GAL M5N 41027 LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Non-current assets

Aircraft

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Cther receivables
Cash and restricted cash

Total current assets

Total assets

Liabilities - amounts falling due within one year

Loans and borrowings

Lease rental received in advance
Cther liabilities

Current tax liabilities

Total current liabilities
Liabilities - amounts falling due more than one year

Loans and borrowings
Net derivative liabilities
Net deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets/{liabilities)

2020 2019
Note Uss$ uss
8 - 76,830,701
- 76,830,701
9 2,158 875 350,941
10 200,184 8,723
2,359,159 359,664
2,359,158 77,190,365
11 - 3,724,314
- 1,273,128
13 535,438 772,104

7 36,891 -
572,329 5,769,546
11 - 69,858,049
12 - 1,623,920
7 - 1,651,881
- 73,133,850
572,329 78,903,396

1,786,830

(1,713,031}




GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Capital and reserves

Share capital
Equity contributions
Profit or ioss account

Shareholders' equity/{deficit}

2020 2019
Note uss uUs$
14 2 2

14 14,786,372 -
{12,999,544) (1,713,033)

1,786,830  (1,713,031)

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 28 for an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the board and recognised for issue on 28 September 2021,

A,

Charles M Leahy”
Director

10



GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Profit or
Calied up Equity loss Total equity
share capital contributions account Hdeficit)
uUs$ uss$ Uss uss
At 1 January 2019 2 - (77.438) (77.,434)
Comprehensive loss for the year
Loss for the year - - (1,635,597) (1,635,597)
At 1 January 2020 2 - (1,713,033)  (1,713,031)
Comprehensive loss for the year
Loss for the year - - (11,286,511} (11,286,5611)
Transactions with shareholders recorded
directly in equity
Equity contributions - 14,786,372 - 14,786,372

At 31 December 2020 2 14,786,372  {12,999,544) 1,786,830

All equity is attributable to the holders of the Company.

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements,

11



GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.

General information

GAL MSN 41027 Limited (the "Company”} is a private limited company incorporated in England on 20
November 2014 as a special purpose company whose principal activities are purchasing, leasing and
disposal of jet aircraft and is domiciled in the United Kingdom.

During the year, the Company sold its aircraft to a refated party.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years
presented in these financial statements.

Accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
'Reduced Disclosure Framework' and UK GAAP.

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and
disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("EU
IFRSs"), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with the Companies Act 2006
and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in
respect of the following disclosures:

. A Cash Fiow Statement and related notes;
. The effects of new standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective;
. Disclosure of transactions with related parties under IAS 24, where such transactions are

entered into between two or more members of the same Group, provided that any subsidiary
which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member;

. Disclosures of transactions with a management entity that provides Key Management
Personnel services to the Company;

. Key management personnegl compensation;

. Capital management disclosures under IAS 1; and

. Comparative information for certain tables as allowed under FRS 101.

As the consolidated financial statements of Goshawk Aviation Limited ("GAL") (whose accounts
consolidate the accounts of the Company) and which have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards ("[FR3"), include eguivalent disclosures, the Company
has taken exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

. Certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement,
. The disclosures required by IFRS 7 Financial Instrument Disclosures.

The IASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRSs that are first effective from 1 January 2020
as follows:

. Interest rate benchmark reform - amendmaents to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 97,
IAS Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments
{Amendments) on foot of IBOR are relevant.

Diafinition of material - amendment to IAS 1 and IAS 8

Definition of a business ~ amendment to IFRS 3

COVID-19 related rent concessions (effective 1 June 2020) - amendment to IFRS 18; and
Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

12



GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued}

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (continued)

The impact of the adoption of these amendments had an immaterial impact on the Company's
financial statements. A number of other new and amended standards and interpretations came into
effect during the year, none of which had a material impact on the financial statements of the
Company.

The Cempany has not elected to early adopt any new accounting standards and interpretation issued
but not yet effective before the accounting year beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The financial
statements have been prepared in US Dallars {(US$). The financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern and a historical cost basis. The preparation of the financial report in conformity
with FRS 101 requires the Directors to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These
estimates and associated assumptions are based upon historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed by the Directors on an ongoing basis.

Judgements

The key judgements that could affect the reported results are those conceming the going concern
and determining the classification of lease arrangements entered into by the Company. Going
congern is disclosed in Note 2.2, All leases entered into by the Company as lessor have been
classified as operating lease.

Estimates

The key assumptions and estimation uncertainties that could affect the reported results are those
concerning useful lives, residual values and carrying values of the aircraft and allowance for lease
receivable losses. The Company reviews the estimated useful fives, residual values and the carrying
value of its aircraft assets at the end of each annual reporting year to support the estimates.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Estimation of impairment of assels

The Company's aircraft that are to be held and used, are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the aircraft may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. In such circumstances an impairment charge is recognised as a write down of
the carrying value of the aircraft to its recoverable amount, being the higher of value in use and fair
value Jess cost to sell,

The fair value less cost to sell is based on current market values from independent appraisers. The
market value of aircraft and related assets is the estimated amount for which an aircraft could be
exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller, in an arm's length
transaction after marketing, wherein the parties each had acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compuision. The calculation of value in use requires the use of judgement in the assessment of
estimated future cash flows associated with the aircraft, including an assumed saie of the aircraft at
lease end. The factors considered in estimating the future cash flows are impacted by changes in
contracted lease rates, estimated residual values, economic conditions, technology and airline
demand for particular aircraft types. These estimated cash flows are discounted at 5.2% per annum,
which management believe is appropriate for each individual aircraft assessed (2019: 5.2%).

13



GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2,

Accounting policies {continued)

2.1

2.2

23

Basis of preparation of financial statements (continued}

Estimation of useful lives and residual values of assets

in estimating useful lives and residual values of aircraft the Company relies upon actual industry
experience, supported by estimates received from independent appraisers, with the same or similar
aircraft types and considering our anticipated utilisation of the aircraft {(See Note 2.7). in addition, the
condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered against the remaining
useful life.

Allowance for lease receivable Josses under IFRS 9

The Company recognises expected credit loss ("ECL") for financial assets in accordance with IFRS 8
‘Financial Instruments’, which requires estimation of both the timing and quantum of the expected
loss. In determining the loss allowance, the Company uses a provision matrix to apply estimated
loss rate, taking account of collateral received, including collateral in the form of cash security
deposits and letters of credit. The Company applies judgement in determining the level of provision
required for each debtor, based on a number of factors including the airline customer credit grade,
historicai airline customer payment and default rates, the financial strength and pasition of the airline
customer and the experienced credit judgement of the dedicated risk management team.

Determination of fair values

A number of the Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair
values, for financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at the measurement
date. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the
method below. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair
values is disciosed in the notes specific to the asset or liability.

Derivatives — interast rate swaps
The market fair value of the interest rate swaps is based on a discounted cash flow calculation taking
into account scheduled repayments using an estimated forward interest rate curve and discounted to

its present value.
Going concern

The Company's financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. In forming a view on the
basis of preparation and the ability of the Company to pay its debts as they fall due, the Directors
considered the contracted cash inflows and the continuing support of GAL, the parent entity.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must
also be met before revenue is recognised:

Lease rental income
Lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term as it is earned. Lease

rental revenue received in advance is recognised as a liability until such time that the Company is
entitled to the lease rental revenue. In certain contracts, the lessee is required to redeliver the aircraft
in a specified maintenance condition (normal wear and tear expected), with reference to major life-
limited components of the aircraft. To the extent that such components are redelivered in a different
condition than specified in the lease, there is normally an end-of-lease compensation adjustment for
the difference at redelivery. Amounts received as part of these redelivery adjustments are recorded
as other income at lease termination.

14



GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

23

24

25

2.6

Revenue recognition (continued)

Lease deferrals & fease modifications

The Company continues to apply IFRS 16 to all rent concessions, including short term lease rent
deferrals, where it assesses if each concession meets the definition of a lease modification. Lease
deferrals are accounted for as lease modifications where the lease amendment was not envisaged in
the scope of the original lease. However, where the lease deferral does not amend the total
consideration, total term or righl to use the asset the deferral is not considered to be a lease
modification and lease income continues to be recorded in line with the coriginal terms. Where a
deferral is considered a lease modification for accounting purposes the Company accounts for the
lease as a new lease, reassessing the operating versus finance lease classification and determines a
new lease income profile,

Finance expense

Finance expense comprises of interest expense on botrowings, financing fee amortisation and
interest raie swap settiements. Afl borrowing costs are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss
Account and Other Comprehensive Income using the effective interest rate ("EIR") method.

Financial instruments

initial recognition of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the purpose for which the
financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics. All financial instruments are measured
initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities not at fair value
through profit or loss, any directly atfributable incremental costs of acquisition on issue.

Classification and Measurement

In IFRS 9, the classification and measurement categories are:

« Amartised cost,
»  Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
s Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of amounts due from banks and where applicable, overdrafts.
They are convertible into cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value and with original
maturities of less than 90 days.

Restricted cash
Restricted cash relates to security deposits and maintenance reserves received from lessees under
the terms of various leases and collateral placed with counterparties in relation to derivative positions.

Under certain of the Company’s debt arrangements, payments received from lessees may be subject
to withdrawal restrictions; such cash balances are considered restricted cash.
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GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2.

Accounting policies {continued)

2,6 Financial instruments {continued)

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below.

Debt instruments
In order to determine the measurement approach to be applied to a financial instrument, IFRS 9

requirgs an assessment of.

+ The purpose for which the financial instrument is held — the business model assessment
« The cash flows assocjated with the instrument — in order to determine if those cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest {the ‘SPPI’ test),

Business modef assessment

Under IFRS 9, the classification of financial assets is based both on the business model within which
the asset is held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The business model
reflects how the Company manages the assets in order to generate cash flows, and specifically,
whether the Company's objective is fo collect contractual cash flows from the assets or is fo coilect
both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from sale of the assets. If neither of these
objectives are applicable where the financial assets are held for trading purposes, the assets are held
at FVTPL.

The ‘SPP} test
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual

cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether the assets' cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest.

In making this assessment, the Company considers whether the contractual cash flows are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement (i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time
value of money, credit risk, other basic fending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic
lending arrangement). Where the contractual cash flows introduce exposure to risk or volatility that
are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related asset is measured at FVTPL. Financial
assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety, when determining whether their
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

Debt instruments at amortised cost
Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost if two criteria are met; The asset fits a hold to
collect business model whose objective is to hold the asset for the collection of cash flows and those

cash flows represent SPPI.

Debt instruments at FVTPL
Debt instruments are classified as FVYTPL if they are either held for trading, do not meet the SPPI

criterion or otherwise designated at FVTPL on initial recognition,

Debt instruments are classified as held for trading if they are derivatives or if they are acquired or
incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near-term, or form part of a
portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of short-
term profit taking.

in certain circumstances, financial assets and financial liabilities other than those that are held for
trading are designated at FVTPL where this results in more relevant information, because it
significantly reduces a measurement inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets
or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on a different basis, or where the assets or
liabilities are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis.
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GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2,

Accounting policies {continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued}

Impairment

The Company applied the simplified approach to recognise lifetime ECL for its trade receivables,
lease receivables and contract assets as required or permitted by IFRS 9.

Under the simplified approach, impairment loss allowances are always measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL. Lifetime ECL losses are the losses that result from all possible events of default over
the expected life of the instrument.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, when applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of similar

financial assels) is derecognised where:

+ The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

« The Company has fransferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and

» Either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b)
the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into
a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Company's continuing involvement in the asset.

Financial iabitities

The Company's financial liability categories are either ‘other financial liabilities’ or financial liabilities
at fair value through the profit or joss’. Other financial fiabilities include ‘loans and borrowings’ and
‘other payables’ in the balance sheet.

Following initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the EIR
method.

Derscognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expires, Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
When a financial liability is extinguished for an amount that differs from the carrying value of the
liability, the difference is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss Account and Other

Comprehensive Income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2,

Accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Alrcraft

Cost

Aircraft assets are initially recorded at cost including directly attributable transaction costs on
acquisition. Aircraft are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment l[osses.

Depreciation

The Company depreciates leased aircraft assets on a straight-line basis to a residual valug at the end
of the useful economic life,

The useful economic life and residual value of aircraft and related assets are generally estimated as
being 25 years from date of manufacture and 15% of cost, respectively. Where more relevant
information indicates a different pattern in which the benefits associated with an aircraft are
consumed, management adjust the residual value and useful economic life estimates for those
specific aircraft.

Residual value and useful economic life estimates of aircraft and related assets are reviewed at a
minimum at each annual reporting date considering management’'s experience and knowledge of the
industry, the GAL group’s strategy (that relating to the acquisition, disposition and leasing of aircraft)
as well as external market factors. Changes are accounted for as a change in accounting estimate,

Disposal of aircraft

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.
These are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss Account and Other Comprehensive Income.

Derecognition

Aircraft assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are
expected from their use or disposal.

Impairment

At each reporting date, the carrying values of aircraft assets are assessed for indications of
impairment. If any indicator of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount is
calculated.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less cost to sell and
value in use. A previously recognised impairment loss is only reversed if there has been an increase
in the assel's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The impairment
loss would be reversed to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount but not in excess of the
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
the priar years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in Statement of Profit or
Loss Account and Other Comprehensive income.
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GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2.

Accounting policies (continued)
2.8 Other receivables

Other receivables are initially recorded at cost, which is the equivalent of the fair value. At the end of
each reporting period, the Company applies an ECL model to determine if the carrying value of other
receivables is impaired, Impairment losses are recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit or
Loss Account ang Other Comprehensive Income,

2.9 lLeases

The Company leases aircraft to airline operators. The determination of whether an arrangement is or
contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of
whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and
the arrangement conveys a right fo use the asset.

Leases in which the Company retains substantiaily all the risks and benefits of ownership of the
leased asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
executing an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease rental revenue. Leases in which the
risks and benefits of ownership transfer to the lessee are classified as finance leases.

2.10 Other payables
Other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end
of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Company becomes obliged to make future

payments, within 12 menths from balance sheet date, in respect of the purchase of these goods and
services,

2.11 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of shares are recognised as a deduction from
equity, net of tax effects.

2.12 Lease rental received in advance

Lease rentals received in respect of future rental periods are recognised as a liability in the Balance
Shaet. The liability is released to the Statement of Profit or Loss Account and Other Comprehensive
income in the period that the revenue recognition criteria is satisfied.
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GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2.

Accounting policies {continued)

2.13 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The Company's functional and presentational currency is USS.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange

rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than US$ are translated into US$ at
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are
stated at cost based on the exchange rate prevailing at the fransaction date. All exchange differences
are included in Statement of Profit or Lass Account and Cther Comprehetisive income.

2.14 Taxation

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax expense is recognised
through profit or loss in the Statement of Profit or Loss Account and Other Comprehensive Income
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equily, in which case it is recognised
in there.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enagted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to the tax payable in respect of
previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable in line with IFRIC 23 of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. 1t is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
included any tax arising from dividends.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary differences that have originated but not
reversed at the end of the repeorting year where fransactions or events have occurred at that date that
will result in an obligation to pay more or right to pay less tax. Provision is made at the rates expected
to apply when the temporary differences reverse based on Jegisiation substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting year.

Temporary differences are differences between the Company's taxable profits and its results as
stated in the financial statements that arise from the inclusion of gains and losses in taxabie profits in
periods different from those in which they are recognised in the financial statements.

A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis

of all available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxabie
profits from which the future reversal of the undertlying temporary differences can be deducted.
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GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

3.

Operating income

Lease rental revenue

2020 2019
uss uUss
6,524,059 9,036,121
6,524,059 9,036,121

Income arises from the leasing of aircraft under operating leases. All income is denved from leasing

activities with airlines located in Australia.

In connection with the operating lease, future minimum rentals receivable under this lease are as follows.

Within 1 year
More than 1 year but less than 5 years
Later than five years

Total

General and administration expenses

Asset management fees
Other fees and expenses

Finance expense

Interest expense on foans
Amortisation of upfront fees
Swap interest expense/income}

2020 2019

uS$ us$

- 9,040,256

- 36,161,024

- 4,520,128

- 49,721,408

2020 2019

USs$ US$
459,062 361,610
74,924 27,462
533,986 389,072
2020 2019

uss uss
2615267 4,814,939
493,460 179,742
978,763 {182,900)
4,087,490 4,811,781
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GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

6. Loss on ordinary activities before tax

The loss is arrived at after charging:

Directors remuneration (fees)

Directors remuneration (other)
Depreciation

Auditors' remuneration - Audit

Auditors' remuneration - Tax Advisory
Auditors' remuneration - Tax Compliance
Other non-audit services

2020 2019

uss us$
2,769,681 3,070,824
3,500 3,500
2,431 2,431
2.775612 3,076,755

Maples Fiduciary Services (UK) Limited (“Maples™) provides Directors to the Company as part of its
service under the corporate service agreement. The Directors did not receive any remuneration during

the year {2019: USENIl).

As at 31 December 2620, the Directors of the Company were employees or were affiliates of Maples. The
Directors may be deemed to have an interest in the fees paid to Maples in their capacity as employees of
Maples. Maples provides corporate administration services to the Company at commercial rates. The

Directors fees for the year are USSNIl {2019, USSNIl}.

7. Taxation

Current tax:

Income tax expense for the year on ordinary activities

Total current tax

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences
Changes in tax rates

Prior year overfunder provision of deferred tax
Non deductible expenses (P.0D.)

Total deferred tax

Tax (credit)/charge for the year

22

2020 2019
us$ USs$
36,891 )
36,891 ]
(1,651,881)  (145,513)
- (60,582)
- (62,544)
- 721,041
(1,651,881) 452,002
452,002

(1,614.990)




GAL MSN 41027 LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

7. Taxation (continued)

Factors affecting tax {credit}/charge for the year

The reconciliation of tax on loss on ordinary activities at the standard rate of UK corporation tax to the
Company's actual tax (credit)/charge is analysed as follows:

2020 2019
uss$ Uss$
Loss on ordinary activities before tax (12,901,501)  (1,183,595)
Tax on lass on ordinary activities at standard UK corporation tax rate of
19% (2019: 19%) (2,451,285) (224,883)
Effects of:
Group relief {(2,820) -
Prior year under provision of deferred tax - {62,944}
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 644,776 800,411
Impact of change in tax rates 194,339 (80,582)

Total tax (creditj/charge for the year (1,614,990} 452,002

Factors that may affect future tax charges

Reductions in the UK corporation tax rate to 19% (effective from 1 April 2017) and 1o 18% (effective 1
April 2020} were enacted on 26 October 2015. Finance Bill 2016 further reduced the 18% rate to 17%
from 1 April 2020, following substantial enactment on 6 September 2016.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax represents the amount of tax recoverable in respect of tax losses available in the current
year which are available for carry forward and an excess of capital allowances over accounting
depreciation. The reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year is as follows:

2020 2019
uss USs$

Deferred tax assets
At beginning of the year 141,537 842,825
Movement during the year - (701,288)
141,637 141,537

At end of the year
Deferred tax liabilities

At beginning of the year {1,793,418) (2,042,704
Movement during the year 1,651,881 249 286
At end of the year 141,537y (1,793,418}
Net deferred tax liabilities - (1,651,881)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

10.

Aircraft
2020 2019
uss uss$
Cost:
At beginning of the year 89,892,578 89,802,578
Disposals during the year (89,892,578) -
Balance at end of the year - 89,892,578
Accumulated depreciation:
At beginning of the year (13,061,877) (9,991,053)
Current year depreciation (2,769,681) (3,070,824)
Impairment charge {10,796,156) -
Disposals during the year 26,627,714 -
Balance at end of the year - {13,061,877)
Net book value at end of the year - 76,830,701

At 31 December 2020, the Company owned Nil aircraft {2019: Two). The Company's abligations under
the loans payable are secured by charge over, among other things, the Company's aircraft and other
assets. During the year ended 31 December 2020, an impairment charge of U$%$10,796,156 was

recognised (2019: None).

Other receivables

2020 2019

uss Uss

Other receivables 4,859 172,119
Trade receivables 2,154 116 -

- 178,822

Prepaid loan interest - Junior Lean

2,158,975 350,941

Trade receivables comprise overdue amounts in respect of lease rentals from lessees. The increase
year-on-year of the receivable balance recognised has been driven largely by the impact of COVID-18.
The other receivables in the table above are neither past due nor impaired. Receivables from other group
entities are available on demand and do not bear interest.

Cash and Restricted cash

2020 2019
uss$ Us$

Cash and cash equivalents 200,184 .
Restricted cash - 8,723
200,184 8,723
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

11.

Loans payable

The balance of the loans as of 31 December 2020 is US$NIl (2013; US$73,5682,363), net of unamortised
transaction fees of USSNIl (2019: US$470,268) as outlined below. Aircraft lease rentals are fixed and
structured to ensure that lease payments and cash flows from disposal of aircraft are sufficient to meet

the debt funding over the term of the lease.

The Company restructured its debt with GAL Dutch Aviation B.V. in December 2020, where the junior
loan facility previously provided by GAL Dutch Aviation B.V. was paid down and replaced by a new senior
loan and capital contribution from Goshawk Aviation Funding Limited ("GAFL") settling the original junior
loan with GAL Dutch Aviation B.V. in full. The senior loan facilities were novated to another Group entity
as part of an intra-Group aircraft transfer.

Costs and fees incurred to secure the loans payable are capitalised and amortised over the term of the
loans.

2020 2019
uss uss
Loan type:
Senior loan - 54,252,631
Junior loan - 19,800,000
Total Loans Payablie - 74,052,631
Unamortised loan establishment fee - (470,268)
- {(470,268)
Net Loans Payable - 73,582,363
2020 2019
Us$ us$
Maturity analysis:
Within 1 year - 3,724,314
Greater than 1 year - 89,858,049
Total Loans Payable “ 73,682,363
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1.

12,

Loans payable {continued)

Key terms of debt facilities
The terms of ocutstanding debt facilities were as follows {excluding capitalised loans fees).

At 31 December 2019

2019
Nominal interest Rate (%) Uss
Floating rate loans
Senicr Loans LIBOR + 2.15 54,252 631
Fixed rate loans
Junior Loans 11.00 19,800,000
74,052,631

The aircraft is pledged as security to the Security Trustees, as outlined in the security assignment. The
aircraft has also been pledged as collateral to the financing parties as oullined in the proceeds and
intercreditor deeds. The recourse of the Lenders and the other parties to the transaction documents is
limited to the assets secured by the Company in favour of the Security Trustees and to any monies
received by the Company pursuant to the transaction documents. None of these parties has a right to
wind-up or take any other insolvency proceedings against the Company.

Derivative liabilities

The reconciliation of derivative liabifities for the year is as follows:

2020 2019

uss UsS$
Fair value at beginning of the year (1,623,.920) 324,373
Disposals during the year 3,938,090 -

Change in fair value of derivative financial instrument through profit or loss (2,312,170)  (1,948,293)

!

Fair value at end of the year (1,623,920}

A portion of the Company's borrowings are at floating interest rates. To mitigate its exposure to floating
interest rates the Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements to swap floating interest rate
payments for fixed. The counterparty to the interesi rate swap agreememnts is Investec Bank Plc.
Derivatives are classified as Level 2 in tha fair value hierarchy as the valuation is based on discounted
cash flows using market implied inputs.
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13.  Other liabilities

2020 2019
uss$ Uss$
Loan interest payable - 356,739
Payable to cther group entities 76,374 322,544
Other payables 459,064 92,821

535,438 772,104

Payable to other group entities includes a balance placed on deposit from GAFL through a cash pooling
arrangement and bears a floating overnight intsrest rate. Payables o other entities, excluding GAFL, are
payable on demand and do not bear interest, Amounts payable to other group entities are due on
demand and do not bear interest.

14, Ordinary share capital

2020 2019
uss uUss$
Authorised
1 Ordinary share of £1 2 2
Allotted, called up and fully paid
1 Ordinary share of £1 each 2 2

Ordinary shares carry one vote per share. There are no additional rights, preferences or restrictions
associated with these shares.

The Company received an uncenditional and irrevocable equity contributions of US$14,786,372 from
GAFL during the year (2019: US$Nil).

15. Employees

Maples was appointed as corporate administrator effective from 5 January 2017. In 2019, the Company
has entered into a lease management agreement with Goshawk Management Limited (“GML") to provide
leasing and asset management services as per the service agreement however, the Company did not
directly employ any persons during the year (2019: None). In May 2020, GML merged with GAL. During
the year, Mapies received fees of USSNIl (2019: US$11,330) for the provision of administration services to
the Campany. The fees were paid by GAL.

16. Capital commitments

At 31 December 2020 there are ne outstanding capital commitments (2013 None}.
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17.

18.

19,

20.

21.

Related party transactions

The Company is availing of the exemption available in FRS 101 from disclosing transactions entered into
between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary party to the transaction is wholly
owned by such a member.

Charges of the Campany

There are seven registered charges between the Company and the Security Trustee, Norddeutsche
Landesbank Girozentrala

Events after the end of the Reporting Date

There were no events after the reporting date that would require revision of the results or financial position
of the Company, or disclosure in the financial statements.

Parent undertaking

The Company's immediate parent undertaking and controlling party is GAL Holdco No.2 Limited, a UK
registered company whose registered office is at 11th Floor, 200 Aldersgate Street, London, United
Kingdom, EC1A 4HD. The entire share capital of GAL Holdco No.2 Limited is held by Maples Fiduciary
Services (UK) Limited, holding one ordinary share. The entire share capital was transferred from Intertrust
Trustees (UK) Limited on 5 January 2017. This share is held in trust for charitable purposes under a
declaration of trust.

GAL Holdeo No.2 Limited is part of the GAL group, ultimate controlling party. The consolidated financial
statements of GAL are appended to these financial statements which are available from Companies
House, UK.
NWS Holdings Limited and Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited are the ultimate controlling parties of the
GAL group.

Approval of financial statements

The board of Directors approved these financial statements for issue on 28 September 2021.
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Goshawk Aviation Limited

Directors’ report

Balance Sheet Highlights

Total available liquidity of US$1.5bn held at year end providing more than 2.5x coverage of
contractual commitments and debt maturities occurring over the next 12 months

No non-canceliable commitments to acquire aircraft over the next 12 maonths to December 2021

Shareholder equity invested in the Group of US$2.0bnsupporting a capitalisation ratio of 73.3%
at year end

Continued focus on maintaining a predeminantly unsecured funding modei, with unsecured
debt representing 60% of total debt outstanding, and total unencumbered assets of US$4.5bn

Successfully extended our US$550m revolving warehouse facility in September 2020

Total aircraft assets of US$7.3bn at year end, with narrowbody aircraft representing 78% by
assel net book value

Long term orderbook of 40 aircraft comprised solely of new technology narrowbody aircraft.
These aircraft are scheduled to deliver from 2023 onwards and will allow the Group to maintain
its strategic objective of being a lessor of young fuel-efficient aircraft with a weighting towards
narrowbody aircraft

Financial and Operational Highlights

Delivered an adjusted profit before tax for the year, excluding the impactoffinancial instruments
measured at fair value through profit snd loss, of US$30m

Recorded total lease revenue of US$763m for the year. Notwithstanding the impact of COVID-
19, lease revenue net of provisioning for trade receivables represented 96% of 2019 total lease
revenue )

Ended the year with an owned fleet of 162 aircraft with an average age of 4.9 years, and a
diversified customer base of 61 airline customers operating in 34 countries

The contracted leasing profile of the Group remains well positioned to deal with the challenges
presented by the novel corenavirus ("COVID-19"} with an average remaining lease term of 5.9
years and US$4.2bn of contracted future lease rentals

During the year, the Group engaged with and supported a number of its aidine custorners who
sought near term rent relief, Notwithstanding this, the Group maintained a collection rate for the
year of 77%, as observed by the movement in trade receivables relative to lease revenue

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had 7 aircraft across 4 airline customers which were
subject to some form of formal restructuring proceedings

Lease utilisation of 99.7% for the year and lease utilisation of 99.3% for H2 2020.



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Directors’ report (continued)

The Directors present their annual report, together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of Goshawk Awation Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

The annual report includes the Directors’ report and the consolidated financial statements, which
include a consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and notes to the consolidated financial statements for the Group as at 31 December
2020 and for the year then ended.

The Group and Company’s acthities and those of the aircraft industry are undertaken predominantly in
US Dollars and this is the functional currency of the Company. The consolidated financial statements
are presented in US Dollars.

In April 2020, as part of an internal corporate restructuring, the Company acquired all of the shares in
Goshawk Management Hoidings (Cayman) Limited. The consolidated financial statements of the
combined entities are now presented using the merger basis of accounting as if the newly merged
Group had always been in existence. Please refer to note 1 for further detail.

Principal activities

The Group is a leading global aircraft leasing company providing comprehensive leasing senvices to
airline lessees across all major geographic regions of the world. The Group specialises in owning,
leasing and trading commercial jet aircraft which are on long-term leases to a diverse lessee base.
Established in 2013, the Group has grown profitably to become one of the largest aircraft lessors in the
world with a total fieet size of owned, committed and managed aircraft of 222 aircraft.

In April 2020, as part of an internal corporate restructuring, the Company acquired all of the shares in
Goshawk Management Holdings (Cayman) Limited ("GMHC"). Prior to the acquisition, asset
management and senvice support principal activities were carmied out by a subsidiary of GMHC -
Goshawk Management Limited ("GML"), formerly known as Goshawk Management (lreland) Limited.
The accounts are presented on the merger accounting basis, as if the newly formed enlarged Group
had always been in existence. Please refer to note 1 for further detail.

The Group's shareholders, NWS Holdings Limited ("NWS") and Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited
("CTFE"), are long-standing, well-established and experienced investors based in Hong Kong who
together provide visionary strategic direction and strong support for the Group’s business,

Directors

The following persons were Directors of the Company during the financial year and unti! the date of this
report:

Name Position Alternate to Date Appointed
TSANG OnYip Patrick  Director - . 6 January 2014
CHENG Chi Ming, Brian Director - 2 February 2015
CHENG Chi Him Director - 21 March 2018
HQ Gilbert Chi Hang Director - 30 April 2018
LEE Chi Hin Jacob Alternate  TSANG On Yip Patrick, CHENG Chi Him 3 July 2018
Director .
MA Siu Cheung Altenate  CHENG Chi Ming, Brian 29 October 2018
Director



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Directors’ report (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks, which could adversely affect the financial performance, position
and/or growth potential of the Group. These include geopolitical and economic risks, exposure to the
commercial airline industry and COVID-19 (as described below), debt market wlatility, leverage risk
and financial risks. Please see further details in note 23 in the consolidated financial statements.

Geopolitical and economic risks

The Group leases aircraft to customers in multiple jurisdictions exposing it to (i) many and varying
economic, social, legal and geopolitical risks, (i) instability in key markets and (iii} global heatth
pandemics. The Directors continue to monitor the development of COVID-19 and are continuing to
assess the potential furtherimpact on the Group. Exposure to multiple jurisdictions may adversely afiect
the Group’'s future performance, position and growth potential. The adequacy and timeliness of the
Group’s respanse to emerging risks in these jurisdictions are of critical importance to the mitigation of
their potential impact on the Group's results and financial position,

Exposure to the commercial airline industry

As a supplier to and partner of the airline industry, the Group is exposed to the financial condition of the
aidine industry as it leases all of its aircraft to commercial airline customers. The financial condition of
the airline industry is affected by, among other things, geopalitical events, outbreaks of communicable
pandemic diseases and natural disasters, fuel costs and the demand for air travel. To the extent that
any of these factors adversely affect the aifine industry they may result in (i) downward pressure on
lease rates and aircraft values, (ii) higher incidences of lessee defaults, restructuring, and
repossessions and (iii) inability to lease aircraft on commercially acceptable terms.

COVID-19

The COVID-19 virus has had an unprecedented negative impact on the giobal economy, and in
particular on the aviation sector. There has been a dramatic slowdown in air traffic, with many markets
in near complete shutdown. Substantially all the world’s airlines have significantly curtailed their
commercial operation and as a result are experiencing financial dificulties and liquidity challenges.
While the Group believes the long-term demand for air travel will return to historical trends over time,
the near-term impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy are material; the extent,
severity and duration are uncertain. The recent commencerment and roll out of vaccination programmes
across the world are positive developments and important steps in supporting the return to previous
levels of air travel.

Going concern

The Group's activties, tegether with the principal factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position are set out abowe in ‘Principal activities’ and 'Principal risks and
uncertainties’. The results ofthe Group, its consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2020 and
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the respective primary consolidated
financial statements on pages 9 - 12. In addition, notes 18, 21 and 23 to the consolidated financid
statements set out the Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing it capital, its risk
management objectives, details of its financial instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to
credit and liquidity risk as well as its borrowing facilities.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group's activties, it has commitments for capital expenditure
as described in note 24. Additionally, the Group has funded a significant part of its operations with debt
financing. The ability of the Group to continue to operate is dependent upon among other things its
ability to meet its payment obligations and adhere to covenant requirements under the respective loan
agreements, and to finance its committed capital expenditures.




Goshawk Aviation Limited

Directors’ report (contin ued)

Going concern (continued)

The Group has considerable fnancial resources with US379 9m of cash and available undrawn debt at
31 December 2020 of $1.4bn (2019 US$1.2bn) (see undrawn facilities as described in note 23)
together with long-term iease contracts with 61 airline operators across different geographic areas (see
note 4) as well as unencumbered assets of approximately US$4.5bn at 31 Decamber 2020,

As a consequence, the Directors believe that the Group is well placed to navigate the unprecedented
impact of COVID-19 on the economic environment we currently operate in and on the aviation industry.

Events after the end of the reporting date

There remains significant uncertainty around the breadth and duration of business disruptions related
to COVID-19, as well as its impact on world economies and, as such, the Group is actively monitoring
the extent of the impact ta ils operations. At the date of this report, there is no matenal impact on the

financiai statements, although the Group has received a number of requests from lessees which they
are continuing to assess.

Auditor

KPMG Chartered Accountanis hawe been appeinted as auditor and expressed their willingness to
continue in office.

Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 8 March 2021,

Director Director
e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS ON THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF GOSHAWK AVIATION LIMITED

1. Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Goshawk Aviation Limited (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the consclidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information
as set out in pages 9 to 68.

In our opinian, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (*IFRS").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {"ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Staterments section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consoclidated financial statements together with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants {*'IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Directors’ Report but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion on that information.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge cbtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS ON THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF GOSHAWK AVIATION LIMITED
(CONTINUED)

2. Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as the Directors determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consoclidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concermn and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
S0.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high leve! of
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

Further details relating to our work as auditor is set out in the Scope of Responsibilities
Statement contained in the appendix to this report, which is to be read as an integrai part of our
report.

Qur report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with the
terms of our engagement. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company’s shareholders, as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Al T (2,

T ==

Killian Croke 08 March 2021
KPMG :

1 Harbourmaster Place,

IFSC,

Dublin 1,

Ireland.
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Appendix to the Independent Auditor's Report

Further information regarding the scope of our responsibilities as auditor

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: ‘

-

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's interal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’'s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group’s 1o cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the ccnsolidated financial
statements, including the disciosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underiying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation,

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Consolidated statement of profit orloss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2020

Income

Lease revenue

Other income

Gain on disposal of aircraft assets
Asset management and advisory fees
Total income

Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation of aircraft assets

Net impairment on aircraft assets

Depreciation and amortisation - other property assets
Loss allowance for trade receivables

Other fees and expenses

Total expenses

Results from operating activities

Finance income

Finance expense

Net loss on financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss

Netfinance cost
Share of (loss )/profit of equity accounted investees
Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Cash flow hedges - effective portion of changes in fair
vatue net of tax

Cash flow hedges - reclassified to profit or loss

Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Notes

[4) [ =%

13

14
11

12

21

Yearended Yearended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019’
US$'000 UsS$’000
762,672 762,780
9,903 15,735
- 32,813
2,953 2,329
775,528 813,657
(330,899) (316,808)
(72,142) {1,718)
(1,985) {1,215)
(33,146) (2,578)
(62,444) . (51,246)
{500,616) (373,565)
274,912 440,092
1,953 2,023
(246,239) (255,719)
(24,847) (37,638)
(269,133) {291,334)
(753) 462
5,026 149,220
(390) {7,575)
4,636 141,645
(79,014) (68,095)
3,300 (353)
(75,714) (68,448)
{71,078} 73,197

Income relates to continuing operations. All profits and total comprehensive income for the yearand the
preceding financial year are attributable to the owners of the Company. The accompanying notes on pages

13 to 68 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

! Yearend 2019 disclosure and relatednoteshave been represented where relevant to reflect theimpact of the acquisition of

the GMHC Group in 2020.

9



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2020

2020 20192
Notes Us$ 000 US$’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Aircraft and related assets 13 7,265,601 7,645,748
Other property assets 14 11,664 13,401
Goodwill 26 185,673 185,673
Lease incentive asset 15 16,368 17,918
Derivative financial instruments 21 - 3,002
Aircraft purchase deposits 16 220,758 183,821
Equity accounted investees 12 6,833 7,586
Other receivables 11 4,904 3,455
Total non-current assets 7,711,801 8,060,694
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10 79,891 122,505
Restricted cash 10 77,911 87.103
Other receivables 11 185,564 40,207
Total current assets 343,366 249,815
Total assets 8,055,167 8,310,509
Equity
Share capital and equity 22 1,985,434 1,977,658
Retained earmnings 22 {10,283) 69,392
Hedging resene 22 (169,216) {93,502)
Total equity 1,805,935 1,953,548
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 18 5,026,337 5,137,842
Maintenance reserves 19 298,039 291,557
Security deposits 20 56,679 73,070
Lessor contribution liabilities 15 48,026 46,306
Derivative financial instruments 21 232,897 130,393
- Deferred tax liabilities 9 19,786 25,775
Total non-current liabilities 5,681,764 5,704,943
Current liabilities
Deferred income 43,190 52,076
Loans and borrowings 18 382,281 456,860
Maintenance reserves 19 76,940 84,368
Security deposits 20 2,902 1,198
Other payables 17 62,155 57,516
Total current liabilities 567,468 652,018
Total liabilities 6,249,232 6,356,961
Total equity and liabilities 8,055,167 8,310,509

The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 68 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

% Yearend 2019 disclosure and related nateshave been represented where relevant to reflect theimpact ofthe acquisition of
the GMHC Group in 2020.

10




Goshawk Aviation Limited

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year

Adjust for:

Depreciation, impairment & amortisation
Loan interest charge

Maintenance reserverelease

Loss on derivative financial instruments
Gains on disposal of aircraft

Gains on repurchase of financial instruments
Group share of loss/(profit) in Associates
Non-cash expenses

Accretion of interest on lease liability

Changes in operating assets & liabilities
{Increase)/decrease in other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in maintenance reserves
Increase/(decrease) in security deposits
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue
Increase/{decrease) in other payables

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
(Ihcrease)/decrease in restricted cash
Purchase of aircraft

Sale of aircraft

Aircraft depasits paid

Aircraft deposits returned/reclassified
Furchase of office equipment
nvestrrent in associate

Lessor contributions  paid

Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of loans and borrow ings

Draw dow nof loans and borrow ings
nterest paid

Net cash (seftlement)/receipt of derivative financial instruments
Debt financing fees paid

Repayment of lease liabilities

Equity contributions

Dividends paid

Repayment of capital

Net cash flows from financing activities

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivaients at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Notes

19

12
14
14(b)

10
13

16

14
12

14
22
22
22

10

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 20193
Us$'o00 us$’000
4,636 141,645
449,818 353,475
231,255 231,744
(24,708) {20,263)
24,847 37,638

- (32,813)

(1,158) -
753 (462)

596 -

449 474
{146,806) 3,498
33,232 119,176
(15,573) 4,346
(8.,886) 4,502
4,896 7,077
553,353 850,037
9,192 82,200
(60,854) {1,364,759)

- 723,420

(41,687} (142,652)
4,750 1,400
(248) {1,376}

- (7,124)

(401} (636)
(89,248) {709,527)
{267,818) (1.322,195)
75,890 1,511,822
(232,466) (225,851}
- (11,449)

(4,535) (13,058)
(1.255) (346)
14,072 299,765
(84,311) {157,500)
(6,2986) (297,880)
(506,719) (217,592)
(42,614) (77,082)
122,505 199,587
79,891 122,505

The accompanying noteson pages 13 to 68 form an integral part of these consclidatedfinancial statements.

' Yearend 2019 disclosure and related notzshave been represented where relevant to reflect the impact of the acquisition of

the GMHC Group in 2020. .

11



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Share _ Equity Retained Hedging )
capital contributions earnings reserve  Total equity

us$'000 uss$’'000 Us$’000 Us$’'000 Us$’'000
Balance at 31 December
2018 362,026 1,613,747 75,802 (25,054) 2,026,521
Adjustment on acquisition
of GMHC Group - - 9,445 - 9,445
Balance at 1 January i
2019° 362,026 1,613,747 85,247 (25,054) 2,035,966
Total comprehensive
income for the year
ended 31 December 2019
Profit for the year - - 141,645 - 141,845
Other comprehensive
income for the year ) ) ) (68,448) (68,448)
Transactions with
shareholders, recorded
directly in equity
Equity contributions - 299,765 - - 299,765
Repayment of capital - {297,880) - - (297,880)
Dividend distributions to
preference shareholders - - (154,500) - (154,500)
Dividend distribution -
GMHC - - {3,000) - {(3,000)
Balance at 31 December
2019 362,026 1,615,632 69,392 {93,502) 1,953,548
Total comprehensive
income for the year
ended 31 December 2020
Profit for the year - - 4,636 - ' 4,636
Other comprehensive
income for the year ) B ) (75.714) (75.714)
Transactions with
shareholders, recorded
directly in equity
Equity contributions - 14,072 - - 14,072
Repayment of capital - (6,296) - - (6.296)
Dividend distributions to
preference shareholders - - {72,154) - {72,154)
Dividend distribution - :
GMHC - - (12,157) - (12,157)
Balance at 31 December
2020 362,026 1,623,408 (10,283) _ (169,216) 1,805,935

The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 68 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4 Yearend 2019 disclosure and related noteshave been represented where relevant to reflect theimpact of the acquisition of
the GMHC Group in 2020.

12



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1

2 (a)

General information

Goshawk Aviation Limited ("GAL”") is alimited liability company incorporated on 9 October 2013
in the Cayman Islands {registered no. 281736), whose registered office is at PO Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. GAL is the parent entity of the
Goshawk Aviation Group, which comprises of a group of entities, which collectively make up
the “Group”. The principal activities of the Group are investments in commercial aircraft and
aircraft leasing.

in April 2020 GAL acquired a related entity — Goshawk Holdings (Cayman) Limited ("GMHC").
Historically and throughout the reporting periods, the GAL and GMHC Groups were jointly
controlled entities by the Controlling Shareholders Natal Global Limited and Zion Sky Holdings
Limited. The acquisition was completed in order to rationalise the corporate structure. Further
detail is set out below in note 2(b)(i).

Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Internationa
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board ("lIASB").

IFRS applied by the Group in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
those that were effective at 31 December 2020.

Basis of consolidation

- The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, results of operations, and

cash flows of the Group and its subsidiaries including certain structured entities it cortrols. The
Group controls an entity when (1) it has the power to direct the activities of the entity which
have the most significant impact on the entity’s risks and/or retums; (2} it is exposed to
significant risks and/or returns arising from the entity; and (3)it is able to use the power to affect
the risks and/or returns to which it is exposed.

The Group's consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting -
policies forlike transactions and events in similar circumstances . All intercompany transactions,
balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are corporations or other legal entities controlled by the Group, generally through
directly holding more than half of the woting power of the entity. Control of subsidiaries is
determined based on the power exercisable through ownership of wting rights. As a resul,
the Group contrals and consolidates subsidiaries when it holds the majority of the voting rights
of the subsidiary, unless there is evidence that another investor has control over the subsidiary.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertibe
are considered in assessing whether the Group controls an entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date the Company obtains control and continue to be consolidated urti
the date that the control ceases to exist.

13



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 (b)

Basis of preparation
i Acquisition of related company during the year

In April 2020, GAL acquired 100% of the shares and woting interest of a related entity Gos hawk
Management Holdings (Cayman) Limited (“GMHC"), for consideration of US$100, granting it
control of GMHC and its subsidiaries (the "GMHC Group"). Historically and throughout the
reporting periods, the Company and GMHC Groups were jointly controlled entities by the
Controlling Shareholders Natal Global Limited and Zion Sky Holdings Limited. Acquiring the
GMHC Group enabled the Group to rationalise its corporate structure and is synergistic.

As the acquisition occurred during the year ended 31 December 2020, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on the merger basis of accounting. Comparative
information has been restated and included to reflect the impact of the GMHC acquisition from
1 January 2019, Further information on the merger is set out below.

The restated 2019 financial information presented in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statements of changes in equity and
ihe consolidated statements of cash flows include the consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries, and GMHC and its subsidiaries
for the periods presented as if the current group structure had been in existence and remained
unchanged throughout the reporting periods from 1 January 2019.

The restated consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2019 hawe been prepared to present the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiares,
and GMHC and its subsidiaries as at those dates as if the current merged group structure had
always been in existence as at the respective dates (or where a company now comprising the
Group was incorporated/acquired at a date later than 1 January 2019, as if the combination had
occurred from the date when that company first came under the control of the Controlling
Shareholders).

All material intergroup balances have been eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Impact of the acquisition

The following table summarises the impact of the acquisition on the 31 December 2019
statement of financial position:

Pre - merger 31 December | Post - merger31 Decernber
2019 (US$'000) 2019 restated (US$'000)
Total Assets 8,287,728 8,310,509
Total Liabilities 6,340,782 6,356,961
Total Equity 1,946,946 1,953,548

Post-acquisition, total assets increased by US$22 8m, as a result of the recognition of a right
of use asset and other leasehold improvements of US$13.4m in relation to two office leases
held by GMHC Group and cash of US$9.1m. Total post acquisition liabilities increased by
US$16.2m, driven primarily by the recognition of the associated lease liablity in relation to the
office leases held by GMHC Group and accrued expenses. The post-acquisition equity balance
reflects a US$9.6m increase in retained earnings, less US$3.0m of consolidation adjustments;
largely consisting of a reversal of 9.98% of the gain on sale on aircraft sold by GAL to Pionesr
Aircraft Finance Limited (“Pioneer”) in 2019, as a result of the 9.99% that GMHC holds in
Pioneer.

14



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2{(b) Basis of preparation (continued)
(i) Acquisition of related company during the year (continued)

The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition:

UsS$’'000
Property, plant and equipment and right of use asset 13,401
Trade and other receivables 9,351
Cash 9,109
Trade and other payables . {13,748)
Lease liability {8,519)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 9,594

Post-acquisition, on a merger accounting basis the enlarged Group:

¢ applies associate accounting to its investment in Pioneer, where it reflects its share of
profits arising from the investment from 1 January 2019 in the consolidated statement
of prafit or ioss and other comprehensive income, and

+ eliminates transfer pricing between the two groups on consolidation

The key classification, presentation, and other changes reflected in the restated 31 December
2019 consolidated statement of financial position and statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income, on foot of the acquisition, are as follows:

« The Group, as a lessee on a separate basis prior to the acquisition, did not identify any
leases in scope of IFRS 16. Post-acquisition the Group on a combined basis has
recognised aright of use asset within other property, plant and equipment {refer to note
14} in the consolidated statement of financial position and a lease liability with loans
and borrowings (refer to note 18). This reflects the capitalisation of office leases by
GMHC on transition to IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019.

¢ Asaresult of the acquisition, the Group reclassified its interest, the 9.99% E notewhich
it holds directly in Pioneer, an aircraft backed security ("ABS") wehicle, to an equity
investment in an associate (refer to note 12 for further detail) and deferred a portion of
the gain on the disposal which had been recorded on the sale of aircraft to Pioneer,
prior to the merger the E note was held at fair value through the profit and loss
("FVTPL"), classified within loanreceivables in the consolidated statement of financia
position.

{ii) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except
for certain financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the
end of each reporting period as explained in the policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and senices.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that is a price directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
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2(b)

Basi4 of preparation {continued)
(i) Basis of preparation (continued)

The Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis
as it is expected that the Group will have sufficient financial and other resources to meet its
obligations as they fal! due for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these
financial statements. Key factors likely to affect the principal activities of the Group, and as a
result the Group's future performance and financial position, are considered in note 23; this
inciudes consideration of the impact of the glabal COVID-19 pandemic on the avation sector.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s principal activities, it has commitments for
capital expenditure as described in note 24. Additionally, the Group has funded a significant
part of its operations with debt financing. The ability of the Group to continue to operate is
dependent upon its ability to meet its payment obiigations and adhere to debt covenant
requirements under the respective loan agreements and to finance its committed capita
expenditure.

The Group's Directors assess its ability to meet its obligations, including obligations under debx
covenant agreements, on an ongoing basis and for a period of at least 12 months from the date
of approval of the financial statements. That assessment includes consideration of the
significant financial resources available to the Group {see undrawn facilities as described in
note 18), together with long-term lease contracts in place with 61 airline operators across
different geographic areas (see note 4) as well as considerable unencumbered assets of
approximately US$4.5bn at 31 December 2020. As a consequence, the Directors believe that
the Group has sufficient resources available to it to navigate the unprecedented continuing
impact of COVID-19 on the economic environment the Group currently operates in and on the
aviation industry, and appropriately prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going
concemn basis.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financid
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied during the period
presented unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statemerts are presented in United States Dollars ("US$”), which is
alsothe Company and its subsidiaries functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest
(US$'000), except when otherwise indicated.

Certain items have been represented in the comparative consolidated statement of financia
position and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income to align
to current year presentation. The presentation changes in 2020 are as follows:

* Maintenance resenes released as income in conjunction with impairment charges on
aircraft as aresult of a change to return conditions, or on lease termination, have been
reclassified from other income to net impairment of aircraft assets. Other maintenance
resenve releases continue to be recorded in other income.

» Impairment on aircraft and other related assets and release of maintenance reserves
have been presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the cumrent year as net impairment of aircraft assets.
Gross impairment had previously been included in depreciation, amortisation and
impairment of aircraft and other related assets

* Expected credit loss allowances on receivables have been presented separately as
loss allowance for trade receivables in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the current year. This had previously been included in
lease revenue, which is now presented gross of expected credit losses.
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2(b)

Basis of preparation {continued)

{ii) Basis of preparation (coﬁtinued)

Changes in accounting policies

New and amended Standards and interpretations during the year

The IASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRSs that are first effective from 1 January
or 1 June 2020 as follows:

¢ Interest rate benchmark reform - amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("IFRS
9"), IAS 38 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financia
Instruments (Amendments) on foot of IBOR are relevant. The Group elected to earty
adopt changes introduced therein on 1 January 2019; further detail is set out below.
Definition of material —amendment to IAS 1 and IAS 8
COVID-19 related rent concessions (effective 1 June 2020) - amendment to IFRS 16;
and

« Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The impact of the adoption of these amendments has not had a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements. A number of other new and amended standards and
interpretations came into effect during the year, none of which had a material impact on the
financial statements of the Group.

The Group has not elected to early adopt any new accounting standards and interpretation
issued but not yet effective before the accounting year beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
The revised and new accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
before the accounting year beginning on or after 1 January 2021 are set out in the note 2(o).

Future changes in accounting policy and disclosure
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (“Conceptual Framework”)

In March 2018, the IASB issued its revised Conceptual Framework. This replaces the previous
version of the Conceptual Framework issued in 2010. The revised Conceptual Framework is
effective on 1 November 2020. The Conceptual Framework is not an accounting standard and
does not override the concepts or requirements in any standard. It may be used to develop
consistent accounting policies where there is no applicable standard in place. The revisions
include afew new concepts, updated definitions and recognition criteria for as sets and Habilities
and clarifies someimportantconcepts. These amendments are not expected to have a materia
impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)
IBOR Reform

The interest Rate Benchmark Reform Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 39 and IFRS 7 include a
number of reliefs which apply to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by interest
rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationshipis affected ifthe reform gives risk to uncertainties
about the timing and or amount of benchmarking-based cashflows of the hedged item or the
hedging instrument.

The Group elected to early adopt the changes to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 on foot of IBOR
reform in 2019, which are mandatory from 1 January 2020. The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enabjle the Group to continue to achieve hedge accounting during the
period of uncertainty, before the replacement of the existing interest rate benchmark with an
alternative nearly risk-free rate. Refer to note 23 for further detail.

In August 2020, the IASB issued Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2. Amendments to
IFRS g, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and IFRS 16 (Phase 2 Amendments).
The Phase 2 amendments address issues that arise upon replacing the existing interest rate
benchmark with two alternative interest rates and introduces additional disclose requirements.

The Phase 2 Amendment provide two key reliefs:
¢ Modifications made as adirectresult of the Reform onan economically equivalent basis
are reflected in the effective interest rate rather than as an immediate gain or loss.
» |f qualifying criteria are met, hedging relationships that are directly impacted by the
Reform would be able to continue accounting on transition to alternative interest raes.

The Phase 2 amendments will be effective for the Group on 1 January 2021, with early adoption
permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the adoption of the Phase 2
Amendments on our consoalidated financial statements.

in addition, the following amended standards and interpretations are effective for reporting
periods on or after 1 January 2021:

» Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before intended use — amendments to IFRS
16 (effective for accounting periods on or after 1 January 2022}

+ Conceptual Framework: amendments to IFRS 3 {effective for accounting periods on or
after 1 January 2022)

+ Onerous contracts: amendments to IAS 37 (effective for accounting periods on or after
1 January 2022}

+ Classification of Liabilities as Cument or Non-Current: amendments to IAS 1 (effective
for accounting periods on or after 1 January 2022)

* Accounting policies: amendmentstolAS 1 and IFRS practice statementno. 2 regarding
the Effective Date of Amendments on Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective for
accounting periods on or after 1 January 2023) ‘

» Accounting estimates: Amendments to IAS 8 regarding the definition of Accounting
Estimates (effective for accounting periods on or after 1 January 2023)

s JASB Annuai improvements cycle: amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
(effective for accounting periods on or after 1 January 2023)

+« Amendments to IFRS 17 (effective for accounting periods on or after 1 January 2023)

s [FRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting periods on or after 1 January
2023)

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these forthcoming requirements. No matera
impact is currently expected.
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2(c)

2{d)

2 (e}

2{f)

Securitisation

Securitisationis the process by which aircraft and related assets are transformed into securities.
The Group securitises aircraft and related assets by transferring the assets to a third party, and
as part of a securitisation, certain assets may be retained (“retained interest”). The Group
assesses each securitisation structure to determine if the transfer of asset to the ABS wehicle
qualifies for derecognition of the assets and non-consolidation of the special purpose entity
("SPE").

Where the Group retains an interest in the SPE by virtue of an E Note holding, the Group
assesses if that retention is an investment in associate or a debt security in scope of IFRS 9,
measured al fair value through profit or loss.

At the year end the Group retained an interest in only one external SPE, which as outlined
abowe in note 2(b)(i} is accounted for as an investment in associate.

Investmentsin Associates

Entities over which the Group has significant influence are associates. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial operating policy decisions of the investee but does rat
have control or joint control over these entities. Associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Investments in associates are carried on the consolidated statement of
financial position initially at cost and increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss of the associate, capital transactions, including the receipt of any dividends
and write-downs to reflect any impairment in the value of such entities. The share of the profit
orloss ofthe associate, together with any gains and losses realised on disposition, are reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in an associate is impaired. The Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between its recoverable amount and its carrying value.
Recowerable amount is deemed to be the higher of its fair value and value in use.

Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in US$ and accordingly foreign currency transactions
are translated at the spot rate of exchange on the day the transaction occurs.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than US$ are transiated into
US$ at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary assets ae
stated at cost based on the exchange rate prevailing at the date of acquisition of the asset. Al
exchange differences are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Revenue recognition

Rewvenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition critéria
must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Revenue from contracts with customers

On 1 January 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
which establishes the principles for recognising revenue and cash flows arising from contracts
with customers and prescribes the application of a five-step recognition and measurement
model. The standard excludes from its scope revenue arising from items such as financial
instruments, insurance contracts, and leases. The Group, as a lessor, recognises substantially
all of its revenue from leases under IFRS 16 ‘Leases’.
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2(f)

2(g)

2(h)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Lease income

Lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term as it is earned.
Lease rental revenue received in advance is recognised as a liability (deferred income) unti
such time that the Group is entitied to the lease rental revenue.

For past-due rentals on all leases, an impairment provision is established under IFRS 9. An
impairment provision is established based on management expert assessment of collectability
and to the extent past-due rentals exceed related security deposits held. impairment charges
are expensed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and presented separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

In certain contracts, the lessee is required to re-deliver the aircraft in a specified maintenance
condition (normal wear and tear expected), with reference to major life-limited components of
the aircrafi. To the extent that such components are re-delivered in a different condition then
specified in the lease, there is normally an end-of-lease compensation adjustment for the
difference at re-delivery. Amounts received as part of these re-delivery adjustments are
recorded as other income at lease termination.

The Group recognises amounts recorded as maintenance reserves that are not expected to be
reimbursed to lessees as income.

Finance income

Finance income accrues using the effective interest ("EIR”) method. This is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset or liability.

Service fee income

Feeincome from the provision of asset management and senvicing to third parties is recognised
in the accounting period in which the senices are rendered in line with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from
Contracts with Customers'. ’

Finance expense

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, financing fee amortisation,
interest rate swap setiements and amortisation of fair value adjustments arising from business
combinations. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the EIR method.

Cash and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents, excluding restricted cash, comprises demand deposits and short
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. Restricted
cash comprises security deposits and maintenance resenes received from iessees under the
terms of various leases and collateral placed with counterparties in relation to derivative
positions.

Under certain of the Group's debt arrangements, payments received from lessees may be
subject to withdrawal restrictions; such cash balances are considered restricted cash.
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2 (i)

Leases

The Group leases aircraft to airline operators. The determination of whether an arrangement is
or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment
of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or
assets and the arangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Group as a Lessor

Leases in which the Group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the
leased asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
executing an operating lease are added to the camrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease rental revenue.

Leases in which the risks and benefits of ownership transfer to the lessee are classified as
finance leases.

Lease deferrals & lease modifications

Due to the unprecedented impact of the COVID-19 pandemic the Group has received alarge
number of requests from lessees, requesting a deferral of their lease payment in 2020. We
have worked with our aircraft clients to manage the challenges of the pandemic during the
period and in certain cases agreed lease payment deferrals. In some cases, the original terms
of the associated lease were renegotiated or otherwise modified, resulting in changes to the
contractual terms of the financial lease asset which affect the contractual cash flow which
constitutes a lease modification.

The Group continues to apply IFRS 16 to all rent concessions, including short term lease rert
deferrals, where it assesses if each concession meets the definition of a lease modification.
Lease deferrals are accounted for as lease modifications where the lease amendment was not
emnvisaged inthe scope of the original lease. However, where the lease deferral does not amend
the total consideration, total term or right to use the asset the deferral is not considered tobe a
lease modification and lease income continues to be recorded in line with the original terms.
Where a deferral is considered a lease modification for accounting purposes the Group
accounts for the lease as a new lease, reassessing the operating versus finance lease
classification and determines a new lease income profile.

Group asa lessee

The Group adopted IFRS 16 Leases, for the first time on 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 replaced
IAS 17 Leases; the standard introduced a single on balance sheet model for lessees. As a
result, GMHC, as lessee, and the Group has recorded a right of use asset as at 31 December
2020 of US$7.0m (2019: US$7.9m) representing theirrights to use underlying assets and lease
liabilities as at 31 December 2020 of US$8.3m (2019: US$8.5m) representing their obligation
to make lease payments.

The lease liability is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
associated right of use asset is recognised within other property, plant and equipment, refer to
note 14 for further detail. Lease rental payments are aliocated between the finance liability and
the finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the lease period in order to produce a constant period rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period. The right of use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2(i) Leases{continued)

The Group applied IFRS 16 using the madified retrospective approach, under which the
cumulative effect of the initial application was reflected in the retained earnings of GMHC and
the Group at 1 January 2019.The following practical expedients were taken at transition, as
provided for in IFRS 16:

. use of a single discount rate for a portfolio of lease with reasonably similar characteristics;
and
. accounting for operating leases with aremaining lease term of 12 months, or less, as

a short-term lease as at 1 January 2019,

Lessoraccounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchangedfrom IAS 17. As aresult, transition
to an IFRS 16 basis for lessor accounting had an immaterial impact on the Group.

2{j} Aircraft and related assets

Cost :

Aircraft and related assets are initially recorded at costincluding directly attributable trans action
costs on acquisition. Aircraft and related assets are subsequentiy measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

The Group recognises maintenance rights assets and lease premium assets in relation to the
acquisition of aircraft that were purchased on lease. Maintenance rights assets and lease
premium assets have been disclosed separately in the notes to the consolidated financia
statements. Further details are disclosed in note 13.

Maintenance rights asset
A maintenance rights asset represents the value in the difference between the fair value of our
contractual right under the acquired in-place leases to receive the aircraft in a specified
maintenance condition at the end of the lease and the actual physical condition of the aircraft
at the date of acquisition.

A maintenance rights liability represents our obligation to pay the lessee for the difference
between the lease end contractual maintenance condition of the aircraft and the actual
maintenance cendition of the aircraft on the acquisition date. The Group has not recognised
any maintenance rights liabilities in 2020 (2019: nil).

Lease premiurm

At the time of an aircraft acquisition, the Group evaluates whether the lease acquired with the
aircraft is at fair market value. A lease premium is recognised when it is determined that the
acquired lease terms are above market vaiue; lease discounts are recognised when it is
determined that the acquired lease terms are below fair market value. Lease premiums and
discounts are capitalised as a portion of the aircraft and related assets value and depreciated
on a straightine basis over the lease term.
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Aircraft and related assets (continued)

Depreciation/Amortisation

Aircraft

The Group depreciates leased aircraft on a straight-line basis to a residual value at the end of
the useful economic life.

The useful economic life and residual value of aircraft are generally estimated as being 25 years
from date of manufacture and 15% of cost, respectively. Where more relevant information
indicates a different pattern in which the benefits associated with an aircraft are consumed,
management adjust the residual value and useful economic life estimates for those specific
aircraft. Residual value and useful economic life estimates of aircraft are reviewed ata minimum
at each annual reporting date, considering managements’ experience and knowledge of the
industry, the Group's strategy (relating to the acquisition, disposition and leasing of aircraft) as
well as external market factors. Changes are accounted for as a change in accounting
estimate. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s portfolio of aircraft has a useful economic life
ranging from 10 to 25 years.

Maintenance rights asset

The commencement of amortisation of a maintenance rights asset is triggered by qualifying
maintenance events. Following a maintenance event, the portion of the cost of the event that
relates to the maintenance rights asset is capitalised to the aircraft asset and is then
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the remaining useful economic life of the aircraft. On
termination of a lease, any remaining maintenance rights assets are offset against any
remaining maintenance reserve cash balances. Excess maintenance reserves are then
released to the profit or loss and recognised as income.

Lease premium
Lease premium assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the
related lease.

The assets' residual values, useful lives, and depreciation/amortisation methods are reviewed
and adjusted if appropriate as at each financial year end.

Disposal of aircraft

Gains and losses ondisposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.
These are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Derecognition
Aircraft and related assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic
benefits are expected from their use or disposal.

Impairment

At each reporting date, the carrying values of aircraft and related assets are assessed for
indications of impairment. If any indicator of impairment exists, an estimate of the assets
recoverable amount is calculated. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. A previously recognised impairment
loss is only reversed ifthere has been an increase in the asset's recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognised. The impairment loss would be reversed to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount but not in excess of the amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in the prior years. Areversa
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2(k)

2{l)

2(m)

2(n)

2(o)

Lease incentive assets

Lessor contributions represent contractual obligations on the part of the Group to contribute to
a lessee's cost of a next planned maintenance event which is expected to occur during the
lease. Alessorcontribution liabilityis established at the commencement of aleas e representing
the best estimate of the contractually obligated contribution. The Group regularly reviews the
level of lessor contributions to cover its contractual obligations under the current lease contract
and makes adjustments as necessary.

Lessor contributions represent a iease incentive asset which is recognised for this amount
which is amortised over the life of the associated lease as a charge against lease revenue,
When aircraft are sold, the portion of the accrued liability not specifically assigned te the buyer
is derecognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal of aircraft.

Assets and liabilities held for sale

Assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities} that are expected to be recovered
primarily through sale rather than continued use are classified as held for sale. immediately
before classification as held for sale, the assets (or components of a disposal group) are re-
measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter, the assets (or
disposal group) are measured at the lower of their camrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell. :

Maintenance reserves

In certain of the aircraft lease contracts, the lessee has the obligation to make periodic
payments which are calculated with reference to the utilisation of airfframes, engines and other
major life-limited components during the lease (hereatter referred to as maintenance reserves).
In such contracts, upon lessee presentation of inwices evidencing the completion of qualifying
waork on the aircraft, the Group reimburses the fessee for the work, up to a maximum of the
maintenance reserves received with respect to such work.

These maintenance reserves are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position
as a cash asset and related liability.

Amounts not refunded during the lease are recorded as income at lease termination or at a
point in time where the income becomes highly probable and reliably measurable. On
termination of a lease, remaining maintenance reserve cash balances are offset against
remaining maintenance rights assets to the extent cash reserves are held for qualifying events
not completed during the lease term. Excess maintenance reserves are then released to the
profit or loss and recognised as income.

Aircraft purchase deposits

Aircraft purchase deposits relate to pre-delivery payments provided to aifines or manufacturers
prior tothe delivery of the aircraft. Aircrafi purchase deposits are initially recorded at cost, which
is equivalent of the fair value. At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amounts are
reviewed to determine whether there is any objective evidence that the amounts are not
recoverable. If so, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial Instruments

The Group adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from 1 January 2019. IFRS 9 infroduced new
requirements for the recognition and measurement of credit impairment provisions and the
classification and measurement of financial instruments. As permitted, the Group elected to
adopt the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to determine the loss allowance for lease receivables
The Group elected to continue to apply IAS 39 for hedge accounting.
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Financial Instruments {continued)

Initial recognition of financial instruments

The classification offinancial instruments at initial recognition depends onthe purpose forwhich
the financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics. All financial instruments are
measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities
not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable incrementd costs of acquisition
on issue.

Classification and Measurement

In IFRS 9, the classification and measurement categories are:
*  Amortised cost;
» Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"}; or
» Fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described betow.
Debt instruments

In order to determine the measurement approach to be applied to a financial instrument, IFRS
9 requires an agsessment of:
* The purpose for which the financial instrument is held — the business model
assessment
* The cash flows associated with the instrument = in order to determine if those cash
flows are solely payments of principal and interest (the "SPPI" test)

Business model assessment

Under IFRS 9, the classification of financial assets is based both on the business model within
which the assets are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the assets. The
husiness model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows
and specifically, whether the Group's objective is to collect contractual cash flows from the
assets oris to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from sale of the
assets. If neither of these objectives are applicable, or where the financial assets are held for
trading purposes, the assets are held at FVTPL.

The SPPI test

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Group asses ses whether the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest.

In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement (i.e. interest includes only consideration for the
time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistert
with a bhasic lending arrangement). Where the contractual cash flows introduce exposure to
risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related asset is
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

Debt instruments at amortised cost
Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost if two criteria are met. The asset fits a hold

to collect business model whose objective is to hold the asset for the collection of cash flows
and those cash flows represent SPPI.
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Financial Instruments (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTPL

Debt instruments are classified as FVTPL if they are either held for trading, do not meet the
SPPI criterion or are otherwise designated at FVTPL on initial recognition.

Debt instruments are classified as held for trading if they are derivatives or if they are
acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near-term, or
form part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there
is evidence of short-term profit taking.

In certain circumstances, financial assets and financial liabiities, other than those that are held
for trading are designated at FVTPL where this results in more relevant information. This
significantly reduces a measurement inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring
assets or liabilties or recognising the gains or losses on them on a different basis, or where the
assets or liabilities are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis.

Impairment

IFRS 9 replaced the ‘incurred’ loss model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking expected credit loss
("ECL”") impairment model. Under the impairment approach in IFRS 9, itis not necessary fora
credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. Instead, an entity always
accounts for expected credit losses and changes in those expected creditlosses. The amount
of expected credit losses should be updated at each reporting date. The impairment model
applies to:

+ financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI

o finance and operating lease receivables (in scope of IFRS 16); and
e contract assets.

The Group applied the simplified approach to recognise lifetime expected credit losses for its
trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets as required or permitted by IFRS 9.
There was no material impact on transition.

Under the simplified approach, impairment {oss allowances are always measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL. Lifetime ECL losses are the losses that result from all possible events of
default over the expected life of the instrument.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, when applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised where:
e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
» The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation o pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
» Either {a) the Group has transferred substantially alt the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b} the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
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2(p)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liability categories are either 'other financial liabilities' or ‘financia
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss'. Other financid liabilities include 'security deposits’,
‘loans and borrowings’ and ‘other payables’ in the consolidated statement of financial position.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liahility are substantially modfied, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability; the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in
profit or loss. When a financial liability is extinguished for an amount that differs from the
carrying value of the liability, the difference is recognised inthe consdidated statement of proft
or loss.

Derivative instruments and hedge accounting

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments ‘

On initial application of IFRS 9, the Group elected as its accounting policy choice to continue to
apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 instead of the hedge accounting
requirements of IFRS 9. At present, we do not anticipate a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements at transition as a result of adopting the IFRS 9 hedge accounting
requirements. See detail set out further below on hedge accounting.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Non-hedging derivative instruments

Certain derivative transactions, while providing effective economic hedges to the Group’s risk
management positions, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules in IFRS
and are therefore treated as derivatives held for trading withfair value gains and losses reported
in profit or loss.

Hedge accounted derivative instruments
The Group uses derivative instruments as part of its asset and liability management acthities
to manage specific exposures to interest rate risks and foreign currency risks.

On the date a derivative contract is entered into, the Group may designale it as either a hedge
of the fair value of a recognised asset or liability (fair value hedge), or a hedge of a future cash
flow attributable to a recognised asset or liability, a forecasted transaction or a firm commitment
(cash flow hedge). Hedge accounting may be used for derivatives designated in this way,
provided certain criteria are met.

The criteria for a derivative instrument to be accounted for as a hedge include:
+ Formal documentation of the hedging instrument, hedged item, hedging ohjective,
strategy and relationship before hedge accounting is applied;
¢ Hedge documentation showing that it is expected to be highly effective (within a range
of 80% to 125%) in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the
hedged risk in the hedged item throughout the reporting period; and
« The hedge is effective at inception and on an ongoing basis.
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Derivative instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges,
and that prove to be highly effective in relation to the hedged risk, are recognised in other
comprehensiveincome and in the cash flow hedge reserve withinequity. The ineffective portion
of the changes in the fair value of the derivatives is recognised immediately in profit or toss.

If a cash flow hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging derivative
expires oris sold, terminated or exercised, then the hedge accounting is discontinued, and the
amount recognised in other comprehensive income remains in the hedging reserve until the
forecast transaction affects profit or loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, then hedge accounting is discontinued and the balance in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group has early adopted the changes to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and [FRS 7 anfoat of IBOR reform.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable the Group to continue to achieve
hedge accounting during the period of uncertainty, before the replacement of the existing
interest rate benchmark with an alternative nearly risk-free rate.

Other receivables

Other receivables are initially recorded at cost, which is the equivalent of the fair value. Other
receivables also include long term loans which are accounted for at FVTPL.

Other payables

Other payables represent liabilities for goods and senices provided to the Group prior to the
end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make
future payments, within 12 months from the date of the consolidated statement of financial
position, in respect of the purchase of these goods and senices. In addition, this balance
includes accrued interest on borrowings and derivative financial instruments.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leavwe, contributions to defined contribution retiremert
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
senices are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Taxation

The Group consists of a humber of tax paying and non-tax paying entities due to tax laws
applicable in each entity's respective domicile. Unless stated below, each entity within the
Group is liable to tax assessment in the relevant jurisdiction of that entity.

Goshawk Aviation Limited
Under current Cayman Island iaw, the Company will not be subject fo any income, withholding
or capital gains taxes in the Cayman Islands.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates
expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settied, based on those tax
rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates
are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences arising
from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability.
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2(t)

2 {u}

2 (v}

2 {w)

Taxation {conti nued‘)

No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they
arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction dd
hot affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses
if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be awailable to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Share capital

Ordinary shares and preference shares are classified as equity. Preference shareholders are
paid dividends at the discretion of the Directors of the Company. In the event of liquidation,
preference share equity ranks lower than other contractual debt agreements.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognised as a deduction
from equity, net of tax effects. : ‘

Equity contributions

Equity contributions represent loans advanced by the shareholders where the Company hes a
contractual right to setlle the loans in the form of cash or the delivery of a pre-determined fixed
number of the Company’s preference shares.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
General

In preparing the financial statements management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that are essential to the understanding of operations and financial condition
and affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, net income, expenses and related
disclosures. Estimates made by management are based on historical experience and other
assumptions that are believed reasonable, the result of which form the basis of the camying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The Group has established procedures to ensure the accounting policies are consistently
applied and that the processes for changing methodologies, determining estimates, and
adopting new accounting standards are well-controlled and occur in an appropriate and
systematic manner.

The following are critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates and
assumptions are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions and conditions and may materially affect financial results or the financial position
reported infinancial statements.

Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant
notes to the financial statements.
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2(w) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

(i) Significant Judgements:

The most significant judgements made in applying the Group’s accounting policies that hawe
the most significant effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are described
below:

The COVID-19 pandemnic continues to ewolve and the economic environment in which we
operate continues to be subject to sustained volatility, which could continue to negatively impact
our financial results, as the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and steps taken by
governments and the timing of completion of large scale global vaccination programmes in
relation to the COVID-19 remain uncertain. The current environment as a result requires
particularly complex judgements and estimates in certain areas. Management is closely
meonitoring the evolving situation and potential impacts.

Lease Classification

Determining the classification of lease arrangements entered into by the Group requires the
- application ofjudgement as to whether thes e are operating or finance leases (see '2(i) Leases)).

All leases entered into by the Group as lessor have been classified as operating.

(i) Estimates:

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties at 31 December 2020 that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next
financial year are described below:

Estimation of impairment of assefs

The Group’s aircraft that are to be held and used, are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the aircraft may not be
reccverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets camrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. In such circumstances an impairment charge is
recognised as a write down of the carrying value of the aircraft to its recoverable amount, being
the higher of value in use and fair value less costto sell.

The fair value less cost to sell is based on current market values from independent appraisers.
The market value of aircraft and related assets is the estimated amount for which an aircraft
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller, in an
arm’s length transaction after marketing, wherein the parties each had acted knowledgeably,
prudently and without compulsion. '

The calculation of value in use requires the use of judgement in the assessment of estimated
future cash flows associated with the aircraft, including an assumed sale of the aircraft at lease
end. The factors considered in estimating the future cash flows are impacted by changes in
contracted lease rates, estimated residual values, economic conditions, technology and airiine
demand for particular aircrafl types. These estimated cash flows are discounted at 5.2% per
annum, which management believe is appropriate for each individual aircraft assessed (2019
5.2%).
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Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assum ptions (continued}

Allowarnice for lease receivable losses under IFRS 9
The Group recognises ECL for financial assets in accordance with IFRS § ‘Financid
Instruments’, which requires estimation of both the timing and quantum ofthe expected loss.

In determining the loss allowance, the Group uses a provision matrix to apply an estimated loss
rates, taking account of collateral received, inciuding collateral in the form of cash securty
deposits andletters ofcredit. The Group applies judgement in determining the level of provision
required for each debtor, based on a number of factors including the airline customer credit
grade, historical aiine customer payment and default rates, the financial strength and position
of the airline customer and the experienced credit judgement of the dedicated Risk
management team.

Estimation of uselul lives and residual values of assels

In estimating useful lives and residual values of aircraft the Group relies upon actual indushy
experience, supported by estimates received from independent appraisers, with the same or
similar aircraft ty pes and considering our anticipated utilisation ofthe aircraft. (see "2(j) Aircrat
and related assets — Depreciation/Amortisation').

In addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered
against the remaining useful life.

Determination of fair values

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair
values, for financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at the
measurement date. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes based on the method below. Where applicable, further information about the
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to the asset or
liabitity.

Derivatives — interest rate swaps

The market fair value of the interest rate swaps is based on a discounted cash flow calculation
taking into account scheduled repayments using an estimated forward interest rate curve and
discounted to its present value.

2 (x) Operating segments

The Group operates one operating segment, in accordance with IFRS 8 'Operating Segments’
for the purchase and leasing of aircratt.

In line with IFRS 8, the Group reports revenue from external customers for each major group
of product and sendice. The main products from which the Group earns external revenue
includes aircraft leasing, trading assets, asset management senicing and treasury assets.

The Executive Committee, as the Chief Operating Decision Maker, is responsible for
implementing the strategic management of the Group as guided by the Board. The Executie
Committee reviews key performance indicators and internal management reports on a monthly
basis.
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Business combinations and goodwill

With the exception of business combinations of entities under common control, which are
accounted for using the merger basis of accounting as explained at note (2)(i). business
combinations are otherwise accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree.
Acquisitionrelated costs are expensed as incurred and included in general and administrative
expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed
for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances, and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

After initial recognition, goodwillis measured at cost less any accumulated impairmentiosses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwiil acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to the cash-generating unit ("CGU") which has been determined to
be the total aircraft asset portfolio at the date of testing, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities ofthe acquiree are assigned to those units. Managementis required to use judgement
in estimating the recoverable amount of CGUs, and the use of different assumptions and
estimates in the calculations could influence the determination of the existence of impairment
and the valuation of goodwill. Management believes that the assumptions and estimates used
are reasonable and supportable. Where possible, assumptions generated internally are
compared to relevant market information.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying
amount of the asset when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwil! disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the asset disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.
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3. Finance income and expense

Finance income
Gains on repurchase of financial instruments

Total finance income

" Finance expense on financial liabilities
- Fxternal finance expense
- Interest on lease liabilities
- Amortisation of fair value adjustments

Total finance expense

Net loss on derivative financial instruments
Net loss on financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss

Net finance costs

2020 2019
UsS$’000 US$’000
795 2,023
1,158 -
1,953 2,023
(241,122) (246,030)
(449) (474)
(4,668) (9,215)
(246,239) (255,719)
(24,847) (37,638)
(24,847) (37,638)
(269,133) (291,334)

Finance income reflects interest earned on cash on deposit and cash at bank. Cash at bank eams
interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash on deposit earns interest at fixed
rates as agreed with the bank. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group crystallised a

gain on the repurchase of financial instruments of US$1.2m (2019: US$nil}.

The fair value release relates to identifiable liabilities assumed through business combinations that
are measured at fair value as at acquisition date. The fair value element is amortised and included
as fair value release within other fees and expenses in the statement of profit and loss and other

comprehensive income.
4. Lease revenue

Lease revenue from operating leases

Lease revenue is derived from leasing commercial aircraft to various operators around the world.

As at 31 December 2019, 161 aircraft have lease contracts with 62 operators.

As at 31 December 2020, 162 aircraft have lease contracts with 61 operators.

The largest exposure to one individual lessee is 10% and 11% of the total lease revenue in 2019

and 2020, respectively.
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4. Lease revenue (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded the following lease rentals from
operators in the following regions:

2020 2019

us$'000 US$'000

Asia (ex-China & India) 213,690 221,496
Americas 111,495 128,659
Europe 136,703 135,219
India 119,703 115,484
Middle East 75,272 53,064
China 55,459 5,171
Africa 27,021 33,559
Australia 23,329 24,128
Total 762,672 762,780

As at the end of each reporting period, the Group had contracted to receive the following minimum
cash lease rentals under non-cancellable operating leases in the following regions

Due within Due hetween Due after five Total
one year one and five years
31 December 2020 years
Us$'000 UsS$'000 UsS$°000 Us$'oo0
Asia (ex-China &
India) 212,545 764,388 409,116 1,386,049
Europe 130,384 398,646 239,745 768,775
Americas 100,006 345,664 186,929 632,599
Middle East 74,368 264,436 232,620 571,424
India 121,453 275,812 60,745 458,010
China 54,193 158,745 6,938 219,876
Africa 17,793 71,172 23,181 112,146
Australia ' 8,694 59,616 22,332 90,642
Total 719,436 2,338,479 1,181,606 4,239,521
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4. Lease revenue (continued)

Due within Due between Due after five Total

onhe year one and five years
31 December 2019 years

Us$'000 Us$’000 UsS$'000 Us$’000
Asia (ex-China &
India) 214,437 812,158 569,392 1,595,987
Europe 125,778 411,863 317,552 855,193
Americas 128,884 438,439 251,774 819,097
Middle East 76,263 281,318 281,436 639,017
India 118,904 368,159 84,481 571,544
China 55,758 188,478 27,770 272,006
Africa 32,536 129,958 65,094 227,588
Australia 26,234 102,552 15,581 144,367
Total 778,794 2,732,925 1,613,080 5,124,799

5. Otherincome

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised other income in relation to the

following items:

Otherincome from lessees
Maintenance reseres release
Total

2020 2019
Us$’'000 US$’000
9,903 2,375

- 13,360

9,903 15,735

Release of maintenance reserves of US$6.9m in conjunction with impairment charges on aircrat,
which was included in other income in the prior period, has been reclassified from other income to
impairment (note 7 *‘Net impairment of aircraft assets') to conform tothe current period presentation.
Other maintenance reserve releases continue to be recorded as other income.

6. Gain on disposal of aircraft assets

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised again of US$nil (2019: US$32.8m)
in relation to the disposal of nil aircraft (2019: 20 aircraft).

Gain on disposal of aircraft assets

35

2020 2019
Us$’000 US$°000
- 32,813




Goshawk Aviation Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

7. Netimpairment of aircraft assets

The Grouprecorded a net impairment charge after release of related maintenance reserves during
the year ended 31 December 2020 of US$72.1m (2019: US$1.7m). The gross impairment charge
during the year ended 31 December 2020 was US$96.8m (2019: US$8.6m).

Aircraft are assessed for recoverability in accordance with I1AS 36 - Impairment of Assets ("IAS
36") at each reporting date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying value may not be recoverable. During the year to 31 December 2020, management
assessed the Group's aircraft and related assets for impairment due to a deterioration in the
inherent value of these aircraft as evidenced by the significant declines in current market values,
primarily as a result of the effects of COVID-19,

Management dewelop the key assumptions used in the recoverability assessment based on their
knowledge of active lease contracts, current and future expectations of the global demand for
aircraft types and historical experience in the aircraft leasing market and aviation industry, as well
as estimates of market values, taking into consideration current independent external appraiser
valuation data. When recoverability s measured on a value in use basis a discount rate of 5.2%
(2019: 5.2%) is applied to future cash flows, which is considered to reflect the risks inherert in the
cash fiows,

Estimates of current market values, future cash flows and discount rates are by their nature
uncertain and require significant management judgement, particularly in the current economic
environment where the COVID-19 pandemic has added even more uncertainty. The factors
considered in estimating the future cash flows are impacted by future lessee performance under
active lease contracts (including agreed deferral arrangements), changes/modifications in
contracted lease rates, changes in future projected lease rates, transition costs, estimated
downtime, estimated residual values, economic conditions, and airline demand for aircraft types.
These estimates reflect the best estimate of management at the reporting date, using all currently
available information. Management have considered reasonable possible changes at 31
December 2020 to the key factors in estimating future cash flows and havwe not identified any
significant risk that would result in a material adjustment to the camying amounts of aircraft and
related assets within the nextfinancial year.

2020 2019

Us$'000 UsS$'000

Impairment charge {note 13} 96,848 8,621

Release of related maintenance reserves (note 19) (24,706) (6,903)

Net impairment of aircraft assets 72,142 1,718
8. Otherfeesand expenses

2020 2019

Us$'000 us$'000

Employee compensation and benefits 29,548 27,111

Assurance and tax fees 2,752 2,534

Trade payables and other accrued liabilities 21,331 8,650

Insurance 2,179 2,215

Travel 507 2,410

Office costs 681 3,636

QOther operating casts 5,446 4,690

62,444 51,246

The Group had 91 permanent employees as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 90). Other operating
costs are primarily made up of fleet management cosls, lease transition expenses, aircrat
valuation fees and bank charges.
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9, Taxation

a) Analysis of tax charge/(credit) for the year

Current tax:

Foreign corporation tax charge/{credit) on net profit for the
year

Income tax expensef{credit) for the year on ordinary
activities

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Deferred tax expense for the year on ordinary activities

Income tax expense

2020 2019
US$’000 Us$'000
1,479 (50)
1,479 (50)
(1,089) 7,625
(1,089) 7,625
390 7,575

b) Factors affecting current tax charge for the year

While the Company is incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, its aircraft are primarily

acquired by subsidiaries which are tax resident in Ireland.

The reconciliation of current tax on profits on ordinary activities to prima facie tax
receivable/payable. The prima facie tax on profit differs from the income tax provided in the

financial statements as follows:

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Irish tax at statutory corporation tax rate of 12.5%

Effects of:
Prior year {over)/under provision of tax
Non-taxable income / non-deductible expenses

Mowvement on unrecognised deferred tax assets /
valuation allowance
Impact of change in tax rates

Income taxable at higher rate
Impact of tax rate differential in foreign jurisdictions

Income tax expense

2020 2019
US$’000 US$'000
5,026 149,220
628 18,653
(338) 2,051
1,165 6,634
(392) 1,818
373 (4)
1,402 (1,000)
(2,448) (21,477)
390 7,575
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9. Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax represents the amount oftax recoverable in res pect oftax losses available in the current

year which are available for carry forward and an excess of capital allowances over accounting
depreciation.

The reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabiiities for the year is as follows:

2020 2019

Us$’000 Us$’000
Deferredtax assets
At beginning of the year 216,056 . 164,521
Arising on disposal - (12,990)
Movement during the year 82,216 64,525
At end of the year 298,272 216,056
Deferred tax liabilities
At beginning of the year 241,831 195,186
Arising on disposal - {14,513)
Movement during the year 76,227 61,158
At end of the year 318,058 241,831
Net deferred tax liabilities 19,786 25,775

The Group’s net deferred tax liability is attributable to temporary differences arising on aircraft and
related assets at year-end, partially offset by deferred tax assets in respect of the carry forward of
unused tax losses and amounts recognised directly in equity in relation to cash flow hedges.
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10. Cash and restricted cash

Cash at bank and deposits earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

2020 2019
Us$’000 us$ ooo
Unrestricted bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents 79,891 122,505
Restricted cash
Bank balances subject to withdrawal restrictions 77,91 87,103
Total cash and restricted cash 157,802 209,608

Under certain of the Group's debt arrangements, payments received from lessees may be subject
to withdrawal restrictions and are thus classified as restricted cash.

11. Other receivables

2020 2019
USs$’000 Us$'000

Other receivables
Other taxes (i) 10,436 11,659
Loan receivables (ii) 3,502 3,455
Other receivables 4,636 1,933
Trade receivables (iii) 167,382 22,072
Prepaid expenses 3,174 3,093
Current tax receivable 1,338 1,450
190,468 43,662
Current 185,564 40,207
Non-current 4,904 3,455

{iy Other taxes includes a receivable of US$10.26m (2019; US$11.66m) in relationto Value Added
Tax (“VAT), the majority of which relates to VAT on historical asset management fees. This is
expected to be recovered in 2021.

(i) The Group has recognised a receivable of US$3.5m in relation to loans provided to third parties
on the sale of aircraft. These loans are classified as non-current, being repayable in 2029.
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11. Other receivables (continued)

(ifi) Trade receivables comprise overdue amounts in respect of lease rentals from lessees. The
increase year-on-year has been driven largely by the impact of COVID-19.

Expected creditloss

During the year to 31 December 2020, the Caompany recognised a charge related to allowance for
impairment of trade and other receivables of US$33. 1m (2019: US$2.6m). The charge during the
year relates to a number of lessees and is based on net lease exposure and the current impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic. The ECL charge, which was previously includedinthe net lease revenue,
is now presented separately inthe consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensie
income. The prior period has been restated to conform to the current presentation.

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment for trade receivables is as follows:

2020 2019
Us$'o00 Us$’000

Expected credit allowance on doubtful receivables

At beginning of the year 4,559 2,419
Loss allowance for trade receivables 33,146 2,578
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (1,286) (438}
At end of the year 36,419 4,559

As at 31 December, the receivable balance, net of expected credit allowance, by geographic regon

was:
2020 2019

us$000 % US$'000 %
India 18,827 11% 9,092 45%
China 13,717 8% 7,852 36%
Americas 7,230 4% 2,683 12%
Europe 42,862 26% 1,172 5%
Asia (ex-China & India) 66,301 40% 373 2%
Africa 9,817 6% - 0%
Austratia 6,612 4% - 0%
Middle East 2,016 1% - 0%
Total 167,382 100% 22,072 100%_

The Group's exposure to credit risk relates to the leasing of aircraft. The recovery of trade
receivables is highly dependent on the financial strength of the commercial aviation industry. When
determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initid
recognition and when estimating the expected credit losses, the Group considers all reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes bath
guantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical credt
experience, an informed credit assessment and incorporating forward-looking information.
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11. Other receivables (continued)

The Group prepared an analysis of each lessee based on historic loss rates and certain publicly
available information to estimate a credit rating on a scale of one to ten, with one being minimal risk.
The Group then uses this risk rating to assign a percentage expected loss rate to determine the
ECL. The percentage expected loss rate is applied to outstanding trade receivable balances at
period end.

In accordance with section B5.5.55 of IFRS 9, security deposits and letters of credit received have
been treated as credit enhancement and included in the measurement of the expected credit loss.
Credit enhancement are integral to the contractual terms of the lease and are not required under
IFRS standards to be recognised separately. ‘

An impairment percentage expected loss provision has been applied based on the risk rating
determined. The percentage is multiplied by the outstanding receivables balance at year end to
calculate an expected loss over the life of the lease.

The gross amount of a financial asset is writien off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This arises when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject towrite-off. Financial assets thatare written off, could howewer still be subject to enforcement
actions in compliance with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

12. Equity accounted investees

On 4 June 2019, the Group acquired a 8.99% minority interest in the ‘E’ notes of Pioneer Aircratt
Finance Limited ("Pioneer”). Pioneeris a structured an ABS wehicle which has issued listed dett
instruments. Pioneer acquired 18 aircraft from the Group in 2019. Pioneer financed the acquisitions
by issuing US$643m tranched notes collateralised on the asset pool ("the notes™). The E note
comprised US$114.6m of the notes. '

On foot of the acquisition, as set out in note 2(b)(i} from 1 January 2019 the Group accounts for the
investment as an interest in associate as it has significant influence over Pioneer through its right to
appoint a Director to the Board of Pioneer. As set out in note 2(d), asscciates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. '

Investments in associates are carried on the consolidated statement of financial position initially at
cost and subsequently adjusted to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate,
capital transactions, including the receipt of any dividends, and write-downs to reflect any impairmert
in the value of such entities. The share of the profit or loss of the associate, together with any gans
and losses realised on disposition, are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

At 31 December 2020, the carrying value of the Group’s investment in Pioneer, held by way of a
direct holding of an 9.99% Enote is as presented in the table below.

Place of
business/country % of ownership Nature of Measurement Carrying
Entity of incorporation interest relations hip method amount
2020 2019 2020 2019
% % US$'000  US$'000
Interest in Equity
Fioneer keland 989 999 Associate method 6,833 7,586
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12. Equity accounted investees {continued)

The information presented in the table below sets out the Group’s share of (loss)/profit from the
interest held in Pioneer for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

2020 2019
US$'000 Uss$’000
Carrying amount of interests in associates
share of;
— (Loss)/profit from continuing operations (753) 462

The Directors have assessed the investment in associate for indications of potential impaiment at
the reporiing date, considering the facts and circumstances of the associate. The Directors ae
satisfied that no impairment exists at year end (2018: USSnil).
13. Aircraft and related assets
The Group has disposed of nil aircraft during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019 20 aircraft).

Depending on the financing arrangements, aircraft may be pledged as secunty, where required in
accordance with the financing documents (see note 18).

Maintenance rights assets

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying value of the maintenance rights assets is US$414.7m{2019;
US$477.3m). In accordance with our leases the lessee is obligated to comply with certain retum
conditions, which may require them to undertake maintenance on the aircraft prior to its re-delivery
or to make a cash compensation sufficient to allow such work to be undertaken.

L ease premium assefs

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying value of lease premium asset is US$146.6m (2019

US$185.1m). Market rates at the time of acquisition of the aircraft have been compared to the rate
agreed under the contracted lease acquired in order to calculate the lease premium asset.
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13. Aircraft and related assets (continued)

Aircraft and Maintenance Lease Total
engines rights assets premium
uss$’o00 us$'ooo us$'000 Us$’'000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2019 7,151,456 457,007 217,502 7,825,965
Additions 1,245,970 90,900 31,290 1,368,160
Transfers 14,026 (14,026) - -
Dizposals (806,038} (56,536) {17,228) (879,802)
Balance at 31 December 2019 7,605,414 477,345 231,564 8,314,323
and 1 January 2020
Additions 60,854 - 60,854
Transfers 9,121 (9,121} -
Derecognition - (13,254} - {13,254}
Balance at 31 December 2020 7,675,389 454,970 231,564 8,361,923
Accumulated depreciation and am ortis ation
Balance at 1 January 2019 (443,302) - (21,133) {464,425)
Disposals 115,959 - 5,330 121,289
Depreciation/ amortisation charge (288,419) - (28,389) (316,808)
Impairment charge (6,319) - (2,302) (8,621)
Balance at 31 December 2019 {622,081) - {46,494) {668,575)
and 1 January 2020
Disposals - - -
Transfers - - - -
Depreciation/ amortisation charge (300,710) - (30,189) (330,899)
Impairment charge (48,284} (40,256) (8,308) (96,848)
Balance at 31 December 2020 {971,075) (40,256) (84,991) {1,096,322)
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 6,983,333 477,345 185,070 7,645,748
At 31 December 2020 6,704,314 414,714 146,573 7,265,601

(i) Geographic concentration

The distribution of net book value of aircraft and related assets by operators' geographic region:

Africa

Americas

Asia (ex-China & India)
Australia

China

Europe

India

Middle East

Total

2020 2019

US$’000 % Us$’000 %
287,001 4% 301,664 4%
1,214,379 17% 1,290,863 17%
2,099,974 29% 2,143,271 28%
174,960 2% 231,944 3%
426,729 6% 445,822 6%
1,174,541 16% 1,257,234 16%
1,103,408 15% 1,150,191 15%
784,609 11% 824,759 11%
7,265,601 100% 7,645,748 100%

43



Goshawk Aviation Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

14. {(a) Other property assets

Leasehold Right of use

im provements assets Total
uss’oeao USS 000 Us$ 000

Balance at 1 January 2019
Cost 5,187 - 5,187
Adoption of FRS 18 . - 8,391 8,301
Additions - 1,376 - 1,376
Balance at 1 January 2020 6,563 8,391 14,954
Additions 248 - 248
Balance at 31 December 2020 6,811 8,201 15,202

Leasehold Right of use

improvements assets Total
us$’oo0 Us$’000 Us$’000
Accumulate d depreciation and amortisation
Balance at 1 Januvary 2019 {338) - (338)
Depreciationd amortisation charge (758) (487) (1.215)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 {1,090) (457) {1,553)
Depreciation/ amortisation charge (1.048) (937) (1.985)
Balance at 31 December 2020 (2,144) {1,394) {3,538)
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 5,467 7,934 13,401
At 31 December 2020 4,667 5,997 11,664

14.(b} Right of use assets and lease liabilities

The Group adopted IFRS 16 for the first time on 1 January 2019. The Group identified two property
leases inscope ontransition forwhich it nas recognis ed aright of use asset and related leaseliability
as set out below.

Offices Total
Right of use assets US$’000 US$’000
Balance at 1 January 2019 .
Adoption of FRS 16 8,391 8,391
Depreciation (457) (457)
Balance at 1 January 2020 7,934 7,934
Depreciation (937) (937)
Balance at 31 December 2020 6,997 6,997

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included in loans and borrowings) and
the movement during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:

2020 2019
Us$’000 US$'000

Lease liabilities
At beginning of the year 8,519 -
Adoption of FRS 16 - 8,391
Accretion of interest 449 474
FX revaluations 596 -
Paymenis {1,255} (346)
- At end of the year 8,300 8,519
Current 880 410
Non-current 7,429 8,109
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14.(b) Right of use assets and lease liabilities (continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the
end of the reporting period:

Less Less More
than than than
amount Cash flow 1year Syears Syears

Carrying Contractual

Lease liabilities UsS$’000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$000 US$'000
As at 31 December 2019 8,519 8,224 1,102 4,795 2,827
As at 31 December 2020 8,309 7,644 1,113 4,157 2,374

156. Lease incentive asset

Lease incentive asset represents contributions made by the Group towards the lessees’ cost of
maintenance events. The lease incentive asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of
the lease and recorded as a reduction in lease rental income.

2020 2019
UsS$'000 Us$’000
Cost
At beginning of year 20,997 9,086
Additions during the year 2,121 11,911
Atend of year 23,118 20,997
Accumulated amortisation
At beginning of year {3,079) {819)
Charge during the year {3,671) (2,260)
At end of year {6,750) (3,079)
Carrying value at end of the year _ 16,368 17,918

Lessor contribution liabilities have been recognised in line with the above lease incentive assets,
amounting to US$48.0m and US3$46.3m at 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively.

2020 2019
US$’000 USs$’000

Cost
At beginning of year 46,306 35,031
Movement during the year 1,720 11,275
At end of year ' 48,026 " 46,306
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16. Aircraft purchase deposits

As at the end of each reporting period, the Group recognised adeposit in relation to payments made
for the purchase of aircraft in accordance with payment schedules setout in the relevant purchase

agreements.

Aircraft purchase deposits

At beginning of the year

Transfer to aircraft and related assets
Payments during the year

Interest paid and capitalised during the year
Purchase price deposits returned/reclassified

At end of the year

Current
Non-current

17. Other payables

Trade payables and other accrued liabilities

Aircraft acquisition price
Interest payable
Payroli costs payable

Current
Non-current

46

2020 2019
Us$’000 Us$'000
183,821 42,569
- (4,800)

39,958 145,463
1,729 1,989
(4,750) (1,400)
220,758 183,821
220,758 183,821
2020 2019
Us$’o00 US$’000
15,442 7,083

- 3,097

33,420 34,631
13,293 12,705
62,155 57,516
62,155 57,516
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18. LLoans and borrowings

The balance of borrowings as at 31 December 2020 is US$5,408.6m (2019: US$5,594.7m). Aircrat
lease rentals are structured to ensure that lease payments are sufficient to meet the Group's
obligations under debt funding over the term of the lease.

2020 2019
US$°000 US$’000
Loans and borrowings - current
Secured loans and borrowings . 218,885 467,233
Unsecured loans and bornowings 173,000 -
Debt issuance costs {10,484) (10,783)
Lease liability 880 410
‘ 382,281 456,860

Loans and borrowings - non-current
Secured loans and borrowings 1,944,596 1,835,683
Unsecured loans and borrowings 3,003,454 3,320,105
Debt issuance costs (19,142) (26,055)
Lease liability 7,429 8,109
5,026,337 5,137,842
Total 5,408,618 5,504,702

Unsecured debt facilities:

As at 31 December 2020, 97 aircraft (2019: 96 aircraft) were being financed by unsecured financing.
The outstanding balance of unsecured debt which includes terms loans, rewolving credit facilities
and bonds as at 31 December 2020 was US$3,266.5m (2019: US$3,320.1m), and the key tems of
these facilities are set out below.

Secured debt facilities:

As at 31 December 2020, 65 aircraft {2019: 65 aircraft) were financed by secured debt facilities. The
Group had outstanding secured debt of US$2,163.5m as at 31 December 2020 (2019
US$2,302.9m) which consisted of 11 facilities, financed by 59 institutions. Under the terms of these
facilities, the aircraft are pledged as security, as required in the financing documents. The aircrat
may have also been pledged as collateral to the financing parties as outlined in the proceeds and
intercreditor deed. The recourse of the lenders and the other parties to the transaction documents
is limited to the assets secured by the aircraft owning entities and to any monies received by the
aircraft owning entities pursuant to the transaction documents. US$280.0m of the outstanding
secured debt at 31 December 2020, is jointly guaranteed by the Group's shareholders. The carrying
value of secured aircraft and related assets pledged as security, are set out below:

Assets pledged as security

2020 2019
Us$’000 Us$’000

Non-current
Aircraft and related assets 2,926,713 3,141,961
2,926,713 3,141,961
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18. Loans and borrowings (continued)

Key terms of debt facilities

The terms of outstanding unsecured and secured loans before the impact of derivatives are outlined
below (excluding capitalised loan fees).

At 31 December 2020

Floating rate loans

Secured loans and
borrowings
Unsecured Joans and
barrowings

Fixed rate loans
Secured loans and
borrowings
Unsecured loans and
borrowings

At 31 December 2019

Floating rate loans
Secured loans and
borrowings
Unsecured loans and
borrowings

Fixed rate loans
Secured loans and
borrowings
Unsecured loans and
borrowings

Within 1 year or on demand

Range of average nominal

After 1 year but within 2 years
After 2 years but within 5 years

After Syears

interest 2020
rates(%) Year of maturity us$’a00
LIBOR+1.25102.25 2022 - 2029 1,332,087
LIBOR +1.25t02.40 2021 - 2024 2,039,254
2.80-7.02 2022 - 2032 830,494
3.90-5.19 2021 - 2030 1,227,200
5,429,935
Range of average nominal

interest 2019
rates (%) Year of maturity UsS$'000
LIBOR +0.60102.25 2020 - 2029 1,424 970
LIBOR+1.13t02.4 2021 - 2024 2,092,906
2.89~7.05 2022 - 2032 877,945
3.80~5.19 2021 - 2030 1,227,200
5,623,021

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the loans and borrowings were repayable as follows:
2020 2019
uss'o00  US$000
391,885 467,233
835,670 391,473
3,236,622 3,119,113
965,758 1,845,202
5,429,935 5,623,021

See note 23 for details of contractual maturities of debt.
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19. Maintenance reserves

At beginning of the year

Additions

Release against maintenance intangible
Sale of aircraft

Maintenance resenes released

Lessee claims against reserves
Amortisation of fair value adjustments
At end of the year

Current
Non-current

20. Security deposits

At beginning of the year

Deposits received during the year
Amortisation of fair value adjustments
Repaid/released during the year

At end of the year

Current
Non-current

2020 2019
US$’000 Us$’000
375,925 358,672
46,981 131,374
(13,254) -
- (77,409)
(24,706) (20,263)
(13,749) (23,893)
3,782 7.444
374,979 375,925
76,940 84,368
208,039 291,557
2020 2019
US$'000 Us$'000
74,268 68,115
15,193 21,382
886 1,807
(30,766) (17,036)
59,581 74,268
2,002 1,198
56,679 73,070

In addition, the Group holds security on iease obligations in the form of letters of credit of U$$69.6m

as of 31 December 2020 (2019: US$70.4m).
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21. Financial instruments — fair values and financial risk management

The Group employs a combination of equity, borrowings and cash resources to finance operations.
In addition, the Group uses derivative financial instruments, principally interest rate swaps, to
manage its' exposure to variable interest rate payments on variable rate debt instruments.
Derivatives are measured at fair value.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carnrying value and fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities by class and category
were as follows:

At 31 December 2020 FairValue Carrying amount Fair value
Hiera I'Chy 2020 2020
Level US$'000 US$’000
Financial assets at amortised
cost
Cash and cash equivalents 2 79,881 79,801
Restricted cash 2 77,911 77,911
Other receivables - Current 2 184,226 184,226
342,028 342,028
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Other receivables - Non-current 3 3,502 3,502
3,502 - 3,502
FairValue  Carrying amount Fair value
Hierarchy 2020 2020
Levei US$'000 US$'000
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
Maintenance resenves 2 374,979 374,979
Security deposits 2 59,581 59,581
Loans and borrowings 3 5,408,618 5,401,205
Other payables 2 62,155 62,155
5,905,333 5,897,920
Financial tiabilities at fair
value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments 2 232,897 232,897
232,897 232,897
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21. Financial instruments — fair values and financial risk management (continued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

At 31 December 2019 FairValue Carrying amount Fair value
Hierarchy 2018 2019
Level Us$’000 UsS$'000
Financial assets at amortised
cost
Cash and cash equivalents 2 122,505 122,505
Restricted cash 2 87,103 87,103
Other receivables - Current 2 38,757 38,757
248,365 248,365
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments 2 3,092 3,092
Other receivables - Non-current 3 3,455 3,455
6,547 6,547
Fair Value Carrying amount Fair value
Hierarchy 2019 2019
Level Us$'000 Us$’000
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
Maintenance reserves 2 375,925 375,925
Security deposits 2 74,268 74,268
Loans and borrowings 3 5,594,702 5,671,747
Other payables 2 57,516 57,516
6,102,411 6,179,456
Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments 2 130,393 130,393
130,393 130,393
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21. Financial instruments — fair values and financial risk management (continued)
The different fair value hierarchy levels have been defined as follows:

Lewal 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: inputs ather than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) orindirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

+ Lewvel 3. inputs for the asset {iability that are not based on obsenable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by
using other valuation technigues. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as litile as possible on entity specific estimates. if af
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in
Level 2. The Group’s valuation technique is discounted cash flows using market rates allowing for
credit risk for derivatives.

All of the Group's derivatives are carried at fair value and are classified as Level 2.

The fair value measurements for loans and borrowings have been classified as Level 3 fair values
based on the inputs to the valuation techniques used (i.e. all inputs are not based on observable
market data, some require informed assumptions). The fair value of the loans and borrowings at
amortised cost has been estimated by discounting estimated future cash flows using the market
interest rates prevailing at each year-end.

The fair value of thelgan assets arising upon the sale of aircraf to third paries has been estimaed
in line with the valuation analysis ofthe underying aircraft assets — proceeds from the sale of these
assets will fund the repayment of the loan assets. The Group has recognised a 1% fair value
adjustment of the total value of the loans as is outlined in note 11 to refiect that a further change
in valuations of these assets may be required in the future in line with potential fluctuations of the
underlying associated aircraft.

The Directors have determined that the fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities not
measured at fair value are considered to fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair values
are estimated on the basis thatthe carrying vaiue has been determined to be a good approximation
of fair value.
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21. Financial instruments — fair values and financial risk management (continued)

Derivative financial instruments
All derivative financial instruments entered in to are for hedging purposes and are carried at fair
value. Those derivatives that do not meet IFRS hedge accounting criteria are held for economic

purposes.
2020 2019
Derivative assets US$’000 Us$’000
inferest rate swap assets
Derivative instruments in designated hedging
relationships - 2,991
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - 1M
3,092
Derivative liabilities
Interest rate swap liabilities
Derivative instruments in designated hedging
relationships . 186,053 104,106
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 46,767 26,083
FX forwards
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 77 204
232,897 130,393
2020 2019
Cash flow hedging reserve ‘ Us$’000 UsS$’000
Balance at the beginning of the year (93,502) {25,054)
Loss arising on changes in fair value of hedging
instruments entered into for cash flow hedges (84,048) {79,089)
Income tax related to gains/losses recognised in other
comprehensive income 5,034 10,994
Cumulative loss/(gain) arising on changes in fair value
of hedging instruments reclassified to profit or loss 3,300 (353)
(169,216) (93,502}

The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or losses arising
on changes in fair value of hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges. The cumulative
gain or loss arising on changes in fair value of the hedging instruments that are recognised and
accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve will be reclassified to profit or loss only
when the hedged transaction affects the profit or loss, consistent with the Group's accounting policy.
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21. Financial instruments — fair values and financial risk management {continued)

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate risk

Disclosed within Derivative Financial Assets/Liahilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financia

Position.

As at 31 December 2020

Amounts Amount of
Change in fair heldin c:Tsh flo:
Nominal value used Carrying hedging Cash hedge
amounts ofthe  Carrying value of the when amount of reserve flow rese rvge no
hedging hedging instrument calculating hedged relating to hedge longer in a
instrument hedge item de- reserve hg dge
ineffectiveness designated relations hip
swaps
Assets Liabilities
US$000 Us$'000 us$'000 uss$r000 uss’'ooo US$'000 Us$'000 uss$’'000
2,299,181 - (186,053) _{84,938) 2,299,181 3,630 169,216 3,630
As at 31 December 2019
Amounts A tof
Change in fair held in :‘:uf? o
Nom inal value used Carrying hedging Cash c:ed :w
amounts ofthe  Carrying value of the when am ount of reserve flow rese r\?e no
hedging hedging instrument calculating hedged relating to hedge longer in a
instrument hedge item de- reserve hgdge
ineffectiveness designated relationship
swaps
Assets Liabilities
US$°000 us$’000 Us$000 uss’oo00 Uss$'000 uss$’oo0 Us$'000 US$'000
_ 2,357,293 2,991 {104,106) {87,146} 2,357,293 6,929 93,502 6,929

The amount reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in respect of de-designated
hedge relationships during the year was US$(3.3m) (2019: US$0.4m), which has been recorded in
the net loss on fair value through profit and loss line on the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
This represents the amortisation of the amount held in the cash flow hedge reserve over the life of
the related hedged item.

At 31 December 2020, the Group held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes in

interest rates.

Interest Rate Net Exposure
Risk Us$'000
Upto1 Year 120,345
1-2 Years 62,650
2-5 Years 1,758,006
5+ Years 358,000
Total 2,299,181
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21. Financial instruments — fair values and financial risk management {continued)

Risk management strategy

The Group has issued debt instruments at a fioating rate of interest (LIBOR) plus a fixed spread. To
manage the exposure to variations in cash flows due to changes in the underlying benchmark
interest rate {LIBOR), the Group generally enters into interest rate swaps to exchange the
contractual fioating rate on the debt instrument to a fixed rate. The decision to enter into a hedging
instrument is guided by IFRS hedge accounting considerations and the Group’s overall interest rate
risk positiomn.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments under IFRS
accounting rules are recognised in other comprehensive income and included within the cash flow
hedge reserve in total equity.

Ineffectiveness may arise as a result of mismatches in thetiming of cash fiows between the hedged
item and hedging instrument as well as changes to the credit quality of the Group or swap
counterparty. Those derivatives that do not meet IFRS hedge accounting criteria are held for
economic purposes and are reported at fair value through P&L.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the consolidated statement of profit or ioss in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for
hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity ard
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. When, orif a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative
gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated statemert of
profit or loss.
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22. Share capital and equity contributions

Share capital Number of shares uss
Authorised

Ordinary shares of US$1 each 250 250
Preference shares of US$0.001 each 1,499,750,000 1,499,750

Issued and fully paid .
Ordinary share of US$1 each - : -

lssued ordinary shares as at 31 Decembaer
2019 - -

Ordinary share Issued during the year at US$1

each ‘ - -
Total issued ordinary sharesas at 31

December 2020 - - -

Preference shares of U$0.001 each
Preference shares of US$0.001 each as at 31

December 2019 362,026,264 362,026
Preference share premium of US$0.999 each
as at 31 December 2019 : 361,664,238

Preference shares issued during the year at
U$0.001 each - _
Total issued preference shares as at 31

December 2020 362,026,264 362,026,264
Equity contributions Us$’000
Equity contributions as at 31 December 2019 1,615,632
Equity contributions received during the year 14,072
Capital repayments during the year (6,296)
Equity contributions as at 31 December

2020 1,623,408
Ordinary shares

Fuily paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share.

Preference shares

Preference shares are issued at a premium of US$0.999 each and comprise part of the Comparny's
distributable resenes. Preferential dividends are paid in accordance with the Dividend policy and
can only be paid cut of profits available for distribution (after the share premium). Distributions wil
be at the discretion of the board. The Group is required to senice all debt obligations and may hawe
limited recourse to the aircraft and the operating leases in certain circumstances, fund their working
capital and any capital expenditure requirements, satisfy all of their expenses before making any
distributions to shareholders.

Preference shares will carry one vote per share except where excluded from voting.
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22. Share capital and equity contributions {continued)

Equity contributions

Equity contributions represent advances made by the Company's preference shareholders in the
legal form of shareholder loans. Under the terms of the agreements governing these arangements
the Company does not have an existing confractual arrangement to deliver cash in settlement of the
loans, any settlement will be solely at the discretion of the Company in the form of cash or by way
of a delivery of a pre-determined fixed number of the Company's preference shares. Consequently,
the shareholder loans have been classified and presented as equity instruments, which best reflects
the substance and overall form of the arrangements entered into between the Company and the -
shareholders in these respects.

Reconciliation of movement in capital and resenes:

Share Equity Retained Hedging .
capital contributions earnings reserve Total equity

US$'000 Us$’'000 Us$'000 us$’000 US$'000
Balance at 31
December 2018 362,026 1,613,747 75,802 {25,054) 2,026,521
Adjustment on
acquisition of GMHC
Group - - 9,445 - 9,445
Balance at 1 January
2019° 362,026 1,613,747 85,247 (25,054) 2,035,966
Total comprehensive
income for 2019 - - 141,645 (68,448) 73,197
Equity contributions
received during 2019 - 299,765 - - 299,765
Repayment of capital - {297,880} - - {297,880)
Dividend distributions
to preference
shareholders - - (154,500) - (154,500)
Dividend distribution
- GVHC - - {3,000) - (3,000)
Balance at 31
December 2019 362,026 1,615,632 69,392 (93,502) 1,953,548
Total comprehensive
income for 2020 - 4,636 (75.714) (71,078)
Equity contributions
received during 2020 - - 14,072 - - 14.072
Repayment of capital - (6.296) - - {6,296)
Dividend distributions
to preference
shareholders - - (72,154) - (72.154)
Dividend distribution
-GMHC - - (12,157) - {12,157)
Balance at 31 :
December 2020 362,026 1,623,408 (10,283) {169,216} 1,805,935

* Yearend 2019 disclosure and felated noteshave been represented where relevant to reflect the impact of the acquisition of
the GMHC Group in 2020,
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22. Share capital and equity contributions {continued)

Transactions with shareholders

All equity is attributable to the holders of the ordinary and preference shares inthe Company . During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the shareholders made equity contributions of US$14.1m (2019:
US$299.8m). During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group made capital repayments of

US$6.3m (2019: US$297.9m).

Dividend distribution

Included in equity for the year are preference dividends of US$72.2m (2019: US$154.5m) paid
during the year. An additional dividend of US$12.2m was made by the GMHC Group to shareholders
prior to the merger with Company in April 2020.

US$ cent per Dividend
The Company preference sh ;::';:g:t: e‘:; declared axi
share paid (US$’000)
Dividend distribution paid (February
2020) 10.72 362,026,264 38,800
Dividend distribution paid {June 2020) 9.21 362,026,264 33,354
Total dividend distributions to
preference shareholders 72,154
GMHC
Dividend distribution (April 2020) 12,157
Total dividend distributions 84,311
US$ cent per Dividend
The Company preference sh a?:;‘}::ure(g declared and
share paid {US$'000}
Dividend distribution paid (January
2019) 10.58 362,026,264 38,300
Dividend distribution paid {April 2019) 10.69 362,026,264 38,700
Dividend distribution paid (August
2019) 10.99 362,026,264 39,800
Dividend distribution paid {November
2019) 10.41 362,026,264 37,700
Total dividend distributions to
preference shareholders 154,500
GMHC
Dividend distribution (March 2019) 3,000
Total dividend distributions 157,500
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23. Risk management

Any of the following risks could adversely affect the financial perfformance, position and/or groath
potential of the Group.

Geopolitical and economic risks

The Group leases aircraft to customers in multiple jurisdictions exposing it to (i) many and varying
economic, social, legal and geopolitical risks, (i) instability in key markets and (jii} global health
pandemics.

The Directors continue to monitor the development of the nowel coronavirus (‘COVID-19') and are
continuing to assess the potential impact on the Group. Exposure to muitiple jurisdictions may
adversely affect the Group's future performance, position and growth potential. The adequacy and
timeliness ofthe Group’s response to emerging risks in these jurisdictions are of critical importance
to the mitigation of their potential impact on the Group’s results and financial position.

Exposure to the commercial airline industry

As a supplier to and partner of the airline industry, the Group is exposedto the financial condition
of the aidine industry as it leases all of its aircraft to commercial airline customers. The financia
condition of the airline industry is affected by, among other things, geopolitical events, outbregks
of communicable pandemic diseases and natural disasters, fuel costs and the demand for air
fravel.

COVID-18
The COVID-19 global pandemic has had a significant impact on both domestic and international
travel. While air travel increased in H2 2020, particularly in China, the timeframe for recovery is
still uncertain. Globally, governments introduced new and additional restrictionsin relation to trawel
in Q4 2020. As a result, recovery time for both domestic and international travel has be come more
uncertain.

As a supplier to and partner of the airline industry, an adverse development in the severity, extent
and time to recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and the rate of recovery in air travel may
negatively impact our business and results of operations. Many of our airine customers hawe
significantly curtailed their commercial operations and as a result are under financial stress, which
could result in lease defaults, lease terminations and related aircraft repos sessions.

To the extent any of these COVID-19 driven factors crystallise they could adversely impact the
Groups financial condition and cash flows, potentially putting (i} downward pressure on lease rates
and aircraft values, (i) higher incidences of lessee defaults, restructuring, and repossessions and
{iit) inability to lease aircraft on commercially acceptable terms.
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23. Risk management {continued)

Debt market volatility

In times of financial or economic uncertainty, the availability of new debt and refinancing of existing
debt may not be assured or may not be available on acceptable terms. This may adversely impact
on the future value of aircraft and the ability of the Company tore-lease or dispose of the aircratt or
the price at which it can do so.

Leverage risk

The capital structure of the Group’s aircraft owning entities inwlves significant leverage and the
Group generally takes the equity risk of financing across all the aircraft, which will rank behind the
secured bank loan and bridging debt financiers. While investments in leveraged assets offer the
opportunity for capital appreciation, such investments may also involve a high degree of risk and
magnify the Group's exposure to adverse economic conditions.

Financiers ofthe secured bank loans will require operating and financial covenants, whichincertain
circumstances, may resirict the ability of the Group to pay distributions. The cowenants in the
financing documents may also restrict the sale of aircraft in certain circumstances.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks and uncertainties to which the Group is exposed, including the
associated hedging activities, are addressed below. These include:

. Assetrisk;

+  Foreign exchange risk;

. Interest rate risk;

» Creditrisk; and

. Liquidity risk.

Asset risk

The Group bears the risk of re-leasing or selling the aircraft in its fleet at the end of their lease
terms. If demand for aircraft decreases market lease rates may fall and should such conditions
continue for an extended period, it could affect the market value of aircraft in the fleet and may
result in an impairment charge. The Directors have engaged management/advisors with
appropriate experience of the avation industry to manage the fleet and remarket or sell aircrat as
required in order to reduce this risk.

The Group is highly dependent upon the continuing financial strength of the commercial airline
industry. A significant detericration in this sector could adversely affect the Group through a reduced
demand for aircraft in the fleet and / or reduced market rates, higher incidences of lessee default
and anincrease in aircraft on the ground. The Group periodically performs reviews of the carrying
values of aircraft, receivables and the recoverable amount of deferred tax assets and the sufficiency
of accruals and provisions, substantially all of which are susceptible to the abowe risks and
uncertainties. ’

Foreignh exchange risk

The Group and the Company have a minimum exposure to foreign exchange risk as the majority
of transactions are denominated in US doifars. The quantum of exposure to currency movements
are small in nature and as such no sensitivity analysis has been performed. Periodically minimal
foreign exchange gain/loss derives from non-US operational transactions,
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23. Risk management {continued)

Interest rate risk

The group's main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings at variable market interest
rates. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrumert
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group policy is to seek to minmise
cash flow interest rate risk when entering in to leasing transactions through a combination of
matched funding and the use of derivative financial instruments. The Group primarily uses floating-
to-fixed interest rate swaps to manage this cash flow exposure. Some accounting volatility can
arise from fair value through profit or loss movements where these derivatives, entered into as an
economic hedge, do not qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS standards.

100

50 BPS BPS

2020 US$'000 Us$’000
Variable rate debt — Finance expense 17,744 35,488
Swaps - Finance expense (13,764) (27,528)
100

50 BPS BPS

2019 us¢$’000 us$'000
Variable rate debt — Finance expense 16,383 32,765
Swaps — Finance expense _ (14,062) (28,124)

The net effect on the Group's overall Finance expense in 2020 ofa +50bps and a+100bps increase
in variable interest rates would have been -US$4.0m (2019:; -US$2.4m)and -US$8.0m (2019; -
US$4.6m), respectively. Lease contracts that inwlve matched variable funding would further
mitigate this exposure.

Creditrisk

The Group is subject to the credit risk of its lessees as to collection of rental payments under its
operating leases. Credit risk is defined as the unexpected loss in cash and eamings if the
counterparty is unable to pay its obligations in due time. The effective monitoring and conlrolhrg of
airline customer creditrisk is a competency of the Group.

Creditworthiness of each new customer is assessed and the Group seeks security deposits in the
form of cash or a letter of credit to mitigate overall financial exposure from its lessees.

The counterparties to the Group's interest rate and foreign currency derivatives are all long-
established regulated international financial institutions. Aithough the Group could be exposed to
loss in the event of non-performance by a counterparty, the use of multiple ﬁnanmal institutions
mitigates this exposure and no significant credit risk arises.

The value of trade receivables and other receivables is highly dependent upon the financial strength
of the commercial aviation industry as described in the asset risk section above. Defaults by one
or more of the Group’s major customers could have a material adverse effect on the Group's cash
flow and earnings and its ability to meet its debt obligations.
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23. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk {continued)

The table below shows the ageing of financial assets that are past due énd the corresponding

expected credit losses at the end of the reporting period.

As at31 Less than One to two

December2020 one month months
us$’'ooo UsS$’o00

Amounts past

due

Trade receivables 20.731 20,060

Expected credit

foss 2,924 3,624

As at 31

December 2019

Amounts pastdue

Trade receivables 5,884 3,245

Expected credit :

loss 360 360

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

More than two

months
Us$000

163,010

29,871

17.502

3,839

Total
uss$’'000

203,801

36,419

26,631

4,559

The maximum

2020 2019

Notes US$'000 Us$'000

Cash and cash equivalents 10 79,891 122,505
Restricted cash 10 77.911 87,103
Derivative financial assets 21 - 3,092
Other receivables 11 190,468 43,662
Total 348,270 256,362
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23. Risk management {continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s
approzch to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to
meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incuring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. Prudent liquidity risk management
implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to reduce the risk that an entity would be unable to
meet financial commitments. The Group has cash and cash equivalents on hand at 31 December
2020 and 2019 of US$79.9 and US$122.5m, respectively. Additionally, the Group has access to a
revolving credit, and warehouse facility and with total availability of US$1,380.7m and US$1,227.0m
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Group has funded a significant part of its operations with debt financing. The ability of the Group
to continue to operate is dependent upon its ability to meet its payment obligations and adhere to
covenant requirements under the respective loan agreements, which are dependent, among other
things, upon the factors outlined above.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest
payments, including the impact of netting agreements and exduding capitalised loan fees:

As at 31 December 2020:

3-4
years

1-2
years

2-3
years

Contractual
cashflows

Carrying

amount 12 months

or less

Uss$'000 us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Uss$’000 Us$’000

Non-

After 4
years

Uss$’000

derivative
financial
liabilities
Secured bank
loans
(external)
Unsecured
bankloans
(external}
Other
payables

Total

Derivative
financial
assets /
(liabilities)
Interest rate
swaps / FX
forwards

Total

2,163,481

3,266,454

62,155

(2,404,687)

(3,651,151)

(62,155)

(273,086)

(262,524)

(62,155)

(494,638)

(471,312)

(256,541)

(705,916)

(470,382)

(1,317,553}

(910,040)

(893,846)

5,492,090

(6,117,993)

(597,765)

{965,950)

(962,457)

(1,787,935) (1,803,886)

232,897

(251,867)

{67,820)

(65,119)

(53,869)

(29,770)

(35,289)

232,897

{251,867)

{67,820)

(65,119)

{53,869)

(29,770)

(35,289)
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23. Risk management {continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2019:

1-2
years

Contractual
cashflows

Carrying

amount 12 months

or less

Us$'000 Us$’000 us$’ooo us$’000

Non-
derivative
financial
liabilities
Secured bank
loans
(external)
Unsecured
bankloans
(external)
Cther
payables

2,302,916 (2.641617)  (542,097)  (281,270)

3,320,105 (3,863,307) (115,708) (276,014)

57,516 {67,516) (57,516) -

Us$'000

(192,556)

(593.,431)

2-3
years

us$’000

(261,850)

(718,037)

3-4
years

After 4
years

uss$'ooo

(1,363,844)

(2,160,117)

Total 5,680,537 (6,562,440 715,321 557,284)

(785,987}

(979,887)

(3,523,961)

Derivative
financial
assets /
(liabilities)
Interest rate
swaps / FX
forwards 130,393 {181,647}

(29,461) (37,729)

(37,821)

(32,254)

(44,382)

Total 130,393 {181,647) {29,461) {37,729)

(37,821)

{32,254)

{44,382)

It is not expected that the cash flows in the maturity analysis could oceur significantly earlier, or at

significantly different amounts.

The Group enters into derivative transactions under International Swaps and Derivatives Association
{“ISDA") master netting agreements. In general, under such agreements the amounts owed by each
counterparty on a single day in respect of all transactions outstanding in the same currency can be
aggregated into a single net amount that is payable by one party to the other. The following table
sets out the remaining contractual maturities offinancial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts
are gross and undiscounted and include contractual interest payments and exclude the impact of

netting agreements.
As at 31 December 2020:

Derivative financial Contractual 12 months 1-2 2-3 3-4 After 4

instruments (gross) cashflows * or less years years years years
us$'000 Us$'e00  US$'000 us$’000 Us$'000 Us$'000

interestrate swaps/

FX forwards

inflow 2,067 447 414 494 461 251

Qutflow (253,934) (68,267) (65,533) (54,363) (30,231} (35,540}

Total {251,867) {67,820) (65,119) (53,869) {29,770) (35,289)
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23. Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk {(continued)

As at 31 December 2019:

Derivative financial Contractual 12 months 1-2 2-3 3-4 After 4
instruments (gross) cashflows orless years years years years
us$'000 uUs$'000 US$000 Us$’000 Us$'000 UsS$’000

Interestrate swaps/

FX forwards

inflow 197 R&R 45,631 35,107 32,202 27,960 51,966
Outflow {374,513) {75,092) (72.836) {70,023) (60,214) {96,348)
Total (181,647) (29,461) {37,729) (37,821) {32,254) (44,382)

IBOR reform

As aresult of the decision by Glebal regulators to reform IBORs by phasing out existing IBOR rates
and replacing them with altemative nearly risk-free reference rates, the Company completed an
impact assessment to both manage and understand the transitional impact on any in scope
contracts. Working closely with an external accounting advisor, the Company assessed the
benchmark rates affected by IBOR which it is exposed to.

The table below sets out the nominal amount and weighted average maturity of derivatives in
hedging relationships that will be affected by IBOR reform. The impacted derivatives are analysed
by interest rate basis.

31 December 2020 Nominal
Amount Average maturity
US$ million ‘Dates
Interest rate swaps
LIBOR US$ (1 month) 35 14/01/2027
LIBOR US$ {3 month) 2,264 16/08/2025
Total 2,299
31 December 2019 Nominal
Amount Average maturity
US$ million Dates
Interest rate swaps
LIBOR US$ {1 month) 38 27/02/12027
LIBOR US$ (3 month) 2,319 28/07/2025
Total 2,357

As disclosed in note 18, the Group has principal repayments due under its existing loans from
external parties which fall due during the next 12-month period. These will be financed via
operational cash flows (rental and disposd of aircraft).

if the Group cannot meet its obligations or ifit breaches certain covenants under the various debt
arrangements, it may be subject to contractbreach damages, it may be required torestrict or apply
all cash flows from aircraft pledged as collateral for certain debt facilities to meet principal and
interest payments, and/or to pay down such debt facilities on an accelerated basis. Assetoutin
note 18, 97 of the Group's aircraft are unencumbered, 65 are pledged under secured financing
facilities.
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24. Commitments and contingencies

At 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitments for the purchase of aircraft for
US$1,986.5m (2019: US$3,630.0m) which is the total estimated purchase price of aircraft, with
purchase agreements in place, delivering in years 2023-2025. The Group has nil non-cancellable
commitments to acquire aircraft in the 12-month period to December 2021.

25. Related parties

Related party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length
transactions. As at 31 December 2020, the Group identified the following related parties which it
had carried out transactions with during the year, as follows:

Equity investments by the Group's Shareholders: NWS Holdings Limited and Chow Tai Fook
Enterprises Limited (US$14.1m during the year ended 31 December 2020)

Equity repayments by the Group to its Shareholders: NWS Holdings Limited and Chow Tai
Fook Enterprises Limited (US$6.3m during the year ended 31 December 2020)

Dividends paid by the Group to its Shareholders: NWS Holdings Limited and Chow Tai Fook
Enterprises Limited (US$84.3m during the year ended 31 December 2020) )
Acquisition of the GMHC Group in April 2020, as set out in note 2(bXi) (for US$1)

Asset Management Senvices provided by GML to Pioneer (U$$2.7m) during the year ended 31
December 2020

Payroll & Occupational Senices were provided by NWS Holdings Limited on behalf of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020. The total amount paid by NWS Holdings
Limited, and subsequently reimbursed to them by the Group, in respect of the year end 31
December 2020 was US$3.4m. The amount due to NW S Hoidings Limited in respect of these
senices at 31 December 2020 was US$0.3m

Significant subsidiaries:

31 December 2020 Sharehoiding . Countryof
incorporation
Chronos Leasing Holdco Limited {Cayman klands)* 100% Cayman klands
Callisto Leasing Hokico Limited (lreland) * 100% reland
Pontus Aviation SARL (Luxembourg)}* 100% Luxembourg
Vanda Leasing One Limited (Cayman islands) 100% Cayman klands
Dionysus Aviation Designated Activity Company (lreland)* 100% reland
Goshaw k Aviation Funding Limited 100% reland
31 December 2019 Shareholding incgrc:g::iyi:r:
Chrenos Leasing Holdco Limited (Cayman kslands)* 100% Cayman klands
Calliste Leasing Holdco Limited (kreland) * 100% reland
Pontus Aviation SARL (Luxembourg)* 100% Luxembourg
Vanda Leasing One Limited (Cayman klands} 100% Cayman klands
Dionysus Aviation Designated Activity Company (keland)* 100% reland
Goshaw k Aviation Funding Limited {formerly Zeus Leasing Hoidco
Limited (Feland)) 100% ¥eland

*Shareholding held indirectly via Goshawk Aviation Funding Limited.

The principal activity of the abowe entities is the sale, financing and leasing of aircraft and provision
of administrative senices to related parties. Information related to all other subsidiary entities will be

filed with the Company’s annual return.
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25. Related parties (continued)

26.

NWS Holdings Limited and Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited are the ultimate controlling parties
of the Group.

{a) Key management remuneration

Key management are the Directors of the entity, as listed in the Directors’ Report. During the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, key management did not receive any
remuneration from the Group.

(b) Aircraft purchases

The Group purchased nil (2019: three) aircraft from a related party during 2020, with a totd
purchase price of US$nil (2019; US$125.0m).

Business combination and Goodwill

Acquisition of related entity GMHC in April 2020

During the year, the Group acquired GMHC, a related entity. The Group acquired 100% of the
shares and voting interests in GMHC, granting it control. The accounts have been prepared on the
merger accounting basis, where they are presented as if the newly merged Group had been in
existence from the start of the reporting period 1 January 2019. Refer to note 2(b)i) for further
detail.

Goodwill

The Group acquired 100% of Sky Leasing in September 2018. Goodwill of US$185.7m was
recognised as aresult of the acquisition.

At 1 January 2020 us$’000
Cost 185,673
Additions -
Disposals -
At 31 December 2020 185,673
As at1 January 2019 Us$’'000
Cost 202,928
Additions -
Disposals (17,255)
At 31 December 2019 185,673

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no impairment loss was recognised as the
recoverable amount of the CGU is greater than the carrying amount.

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on an annual basis. Management

have concluded that no reasonable change in key assumptions would resultinan impairmentbeing
identified during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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27. Events after the end of the reporting date

There were no events after the reporting period, that would require revision of the results or financial
position of the Group, or disclosure in the financia statements.

28. Approval of consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors approved and authorised these consolidated financial statements on 8 March
2021. ‘
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